

Other Proposed Conforming and Consequential Amendments to ISQMs and ISAs

This Agenda Item includes the proposed conforming and consequential amendments to ISQMs¹ and other ISAs as a result of the proposed revisions to the in-scope standards (shown in mark-up from extant).² In addition, **Agenda Item 7–E** includes the significant consequential amendments to proposed to ISA 315 (Revised 2019)³ and ISA 700 (Revised)⁴ based on previous IAASB's decisions in the course of the AE&RR project.

ISQM 1, QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR FIRMS THAT PERFORM AUDITS OR REVIEWS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, OR OTHER ASSURANCE OR RELATED SERVICES ENGAGEMENTS

Introduction

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

A99. A technological resource may serve multiple purposes within the firm and some of the purposes may be unrelated to the system of quality management. Technological resources that are relevant for the purposes of this ISQM are:

- Technological resources that are directly used in designing, implementing or operating the firm's system of quality management;
- Technological resources that are used directly by engagement teams in the performance of engagements; and
- Technological resources that are essential to enabling the effective operation of the above, such as, in relation to an IT application, the IT infrastructure and IT processes supporting the IT application.

Scalability examples to demonstrate how the technological resources that are relevant for the purposes of this ISQM may differ

- In a less complex firm, the technological resources may comprise a commercial IT application used by engagement teams, which has been purchased from a service provider. The IT processes that support the operation of the IT application may also be relevant, although they may be simple (e.g., processes for authorizing access to the IT application and processing updates to the IT application).

¹ International Standards on Quality Management

² The proposed conforming and consequential amendments are based on the entire body of ISAs, as published in the IAASB 2025 Handbook (Volume I), including other approved ISAs which are not yet effective.

³ International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*

⁴ ISA 700 (Revised), *Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements*

- In a more complex firm, the technological resources may be more complex and may comprise:
 - Multiple IT applications, including custom developed applications or applications developed by the firm's network, such as:
 - IT applications used by engagement teams (e.g., engagement software used to prepare and compile engagement documentation and automated technological audit tools).
 - IT applications developed and used by the firm to manage aspects of the system of quality management (e.g., IT applications to monitor independence or assign personnel to engagements).
 - The IT processes that support the operation of these IT applications, including the individuals responsible for managing the IT infrastructure and IT processes and the firm's processes for managing program changes to the IT applications.

A99A. Technological resources that are used directly by engagement teams may serve multiple purposes in planning and performing the engagement. Technological resources include technological tools that facilitate the design or performance of engagement procedures in obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence.

Examples of technological tools:

- IT applications that facilitate analysis of data using modeling and visualization or analysis of image processing technology.
- Engagement software built to manage workflows and assist in planning and performing engagement procedures, analyzing evidence and reaching conclusions.
- Technologies that facilitate automating aspects of engagement procedures (e.g., robotic process automation technologies), or that facilitate gathering and analysis of large amounts of information from various sources (e.g., artificial intelligence technologies).
- A spreadsheet programmed to perform functions related to designing or performing engagement procedures (e.g., data analysis or generation of information to aid decision making).

...

ISQM 2, ENGAGEMENT QUALITY REVIEWS

Introduction

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

A53. The performance and notification of the completion of the engagement quality review may be documented in a number of ways. For example, the engagement quality reviewer may document the review of engagement documentation ~~electronically~~ in the IT application for the performance of the engagement. Alternatively, the engagement quality reviewer may document the review through means of a memorandum. The engagement quality reviewer's procedures may also be documented in other ways, for example, in the minutes of the engagement team's discussions where the engagement quality reviewer was present.

...

ISA 200, OVERALL OBJECTIVES OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR AND THE CONDUCT OF AN AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS ON AUDITING

Introduction

...

Definitions

...

~~13(b) Audit evidence—Information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the auditor's opinion is based. Audit evidence includes both information contained in the accounting records underlying the financial statements and other information. For purposes of the ISAs:~~

- ~~(i) Sufficiency of audit evidence is the measure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of the audit evidence needed is affected by the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement and also by the quality of such audit evidence.~~
- ~~(ii) Appropriateness of audit evidence is the measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is, its relevance and its reliability in providing support for the conclusions on which the auditor's opinion is based~~

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

Professional Skepticism (Ref: Para. 15)

A21. Professional skepticism includes being alert to, for example:

- Audit evidence that ~~is inconsistent with~~ ~~contradicts~~ other audit evidence obtained.

- Information that brings into question the reliability of documents and responses to inquiries to be used as audit evidence.
- Conditions that may indicate possible fraud.
- Circumstances that suggest the need for audit procedures in addition to those required by the ISAs.

...

A23. Professional skepticism is necessary to the critical assessment of audit evidence. This includes questioning ~~inconsistent contradictory~~ audit evidence and the reliability of documents and responses to inquiries and other information obtained from management and those charged with governance. It also includes consideration of the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence obtained in the light of the circumstances, for example, in the case where fraud risk factors exist and a single document, of a nature that is susceptible to fraud, is the sole supporting evidence for a material financial statement amount.

A24. ~~The auditor may accept records and documents as genuine unless the auditor has reason to believe the contrary. Nevertheless, the auditor is required~~ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised) requires the auditor to ~~consider evaluate~~ the reliability of information intended to be used as audit evidence,⁵ which includes procedures to address the authenticity of such information when the auditor considers that the attribute of authenticity is of significance in the circumstances to meet the intended purpose(s) of the audit procedures. Other than performing audit procedures in relation to authenticity when it is of significance in the circumstances⁶ and remaining alert throughout the audit for conditions or indications to the contrary, the auditor may consider information, including records or documents, to be authentic. However, in cases of doubt about the reliability of the information or indications of possible fraud (for example, if conditions identified during the audit cause the auditor to believe that a record or document may not be authentic or that terms in a document may have been falsified), modified but not disclosed to the auditor,⁷ the ISAs require that the auditor investigate further and determine what modifications or additions to audit procedures are necessary to resolve the matter.⁸

...

A31. Audit evidence is necessary to support the conclusions drawn that form the basis for the auditor's opinion and report. Audit evidence ~~It~~ is cumulative in nature and is primarily obtained from audit procedures performed during the course of the current audit. It may, however, also include information obtained from other sources such as previous audits (provided that the auditor has evaluated that such information remains determined whether changes have occurred since the previous audit that may affect its relevance relevant and reliable to the current audit) or through the information obtained by the firm in the acceptance or continuance of the client relationship or engagement. In addition to other sources inside and outside the entity, the entity's accounting records are an important source of audit evidence. Also, information intended to ~~that may~~ be used as audit evidence may have been prepared by an expert employed or engaged by the entity. Audit evidence comprises ~~both~~

⁵ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), Audit Evidence, paragraphs 9(b), A56-A56B and A56Faa-A56H 7-9

⁶ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph 10B

⁷ ISA 240 (Revised), paragraph A35

⁸ ISA 240 (Revised), paragraph 2244; Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraphs 12-12A-41; ISA 505, External Confirmations, paragraphs 10-11, and 16

~~information evidence~~ that supports and corroborates management's assertions, and ~~any information evidence~~ that contradicts such assertions. ~~In addition, in some cases, the absence of information (for example, management's refusal to provide a requested representation) is used by the auditor, and therefore, also constitutes audit evidence.~~ Most of the auditor's work in forming the auditor's opinion consists of obtaining and evaluating audit evidence.

...

A33. ~~The Appropriateness of audit evidence refers to is the measure of the quality of audit evidence. The quality of audit evidence depends on the; that is, its relevance and its reliability of the information intended to be used as audit evidence as well as the effectiveness of the design of the audit procedures and the auditor's application of those audit procedures.⁹ in providing support for the conclusions on which the auditor's opinion is based. The reliability of evidence is influenced by its source and by its nature, and is dependent on the individual circumstances under which it is obtained.~~

A34. Whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level, and thereby enable the auditor to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the auditor's opinion, is a matter of professional judgment. Proposed ISA 500 (Revised) and other relevant ISAs establish additional requirements and provide further guidance applicable throughout the audit regarding the auditor's considerations in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence.

...

A43. Control risk is a function of the effectiveness of the design, implementation and maintenance of controls by management to address identified risks that threaten the achievement of the entity's objectives relevant to preparation of the entity's financial statements. However, internal control, no matter how well designed and operated, can only reduce, but not eliminate, risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, because of the inherent limitations of controls. These include, for example, the possibility of human errors or mistakes, or of controls being circumvented by collusion or inappropriate management override. Accordingly, some control risk will always exist. The ISAs provide the conditions under which the auditor is required to, or may choose to, test the operating effectiveness of controls in determining the nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures to be performed.¹⁰

A44. The assessment of the risks of material misstatement may be expressed in quantitative terms, such as in percentages, or in non-quantitative terms. In any case, the need for the auditor to make appropriate risk assessments is more important than the different approaches by which they may be made. The ISAs typically refer to the "risks of material misstatement," rather than to inherent risk and control risk separately. However, ISA 315 (Revised 2019) requires inherent risk to be assessed separately from control risk to provide a basis for designing and performing further audit procedures to respond to the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level, in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).

A45. Risks of material misstatement are assessed at the assertion level in order to determine the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.¹¹

⁹ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph A13

¹⁰ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks, paragraphs 6–17

¹¹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 6

...

- A49. ISA 300 and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) establish requirements and provide guidance on planning an audit of financial statements and the auditor's responses to assessed risks. Detection risk, however, can only be reduced, not eliminated, because of the inherent limitations of an audit. Accordingly, some detection risk will always exist.

....

Considerations Specific to Automated Technological Tools ~~and Techniques~~

- A73. The considerations specific to "~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~" included in some ISAs (for example, ISA 315 (Revised 2019)) have been developed to explain how the auditor may apply certain requirements when using automated technological tools ~~and techniques~~ in performing audit procedures.

...

- A76. In using the objectives, the auditor is required to have regard to the interrelationships among the ISAs. This is because, as indicated in paragraph A58, the ISAs deal in some cases with general responsibilities and in others with the application of those responsibilities to specific topics. For example, this ISA requires the auditor to adopt an attitude of professional skepticism; this is necessary in all aspects of planning and performing an audit but is not repeated as a requirement of each ISA. At a more detailed level, ISA 315 (Revised 2019) and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) contain, among other things, objectives and requirements that deal with the auditor's responsibilities to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement and to design and perform further audit procedures to respond to those assessed risks, respectively; these objectives and requirements apply throughout the audit. An ISA dealing with specific aspects of the audit (for example, ISA 540 (Revised)) may expand on how the objectives and requirements of such ISAs as ISA 315 (Revised 2019) and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) are to be applied in relation to the subject of the ISA but does not repeat them. Thus, in achieving the objective stated in ISA 540 (Revised), the auditor has regard to the objectives and requirements of other relevant ISAs.

ISA 220 (REVISED), QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

...

Requirements

...

Engagement Resources

25. The engagement partner shall determine that sufficient and appropriate human, technological and intellectual resources to perform the engagement are assigned or made available to the engagement team in a timely manner, taking into account the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement, the firm's policies or procedures, and any changes that may arise during the engagement. (Ref: Para. A60–A71, A74–A75, A79)

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

A16. The definition of an engagement team focuses on individuals who perform audit procedures on the audit engagement. Audit evidence, which is necessary to support the auditor's opinion and report, is primarily obtained from audit procedures performed during the course of the current audit.¹² Audit procedures ~~comprise~~include risk assessment procedures,¹³ ~~and~~ further audit procedures,¹⁴ ~~and other audit procedures that are required to be carried out to comply with the ISAs.~~¹⁵ As explained in Proposed ISA 500 (Revised) describes different types of, audit procedures, which may include inspection, observation, confirmation, recalculation, reperformance, analytical procedures and inquiry, often performed in some combination.¹⁶ ~~Other ISAs may also include specific procedures to obtain audit evidence, for example, ISA 520.~~¹⁷

...

A19. Engagement teams may include individuals with expertise in a specialized area of accounting or auditing who perform audit procedures on the audit engagement, for example, individuals with expertise in accounting for income taxes, or in analyzing complex information produced by ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ for the purpose of identifying unusual or unexpected relationships. An individual is not a member of the engagement team if that individual's involvement with the engagement is limited to consultation. Consultations are addressed in paragraphs 35 and A99–A102.

...

Professional Skepticism (Ref: Para. 7)

A35. Impediments to the exercise of professional skepticism at the engagement level may include, but are not limited to:

- ...
- ...
- Difficulties in obtaining access to records, facilities, certain employees, customers, vendors or others, which may cause the engagement team to bias the selection of sources of information intended to be used as audit evidence and seek ~~audit evidence~~information from sources that are more easily accessible.
- Overreliance on ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~, which may result in the engagement team not critically assessing audit evidence.

...

¹² ISA 200, paragraph A31

¹³ ISA 315 (Revised 2019) provides requirements related to risk assessment procedures.

¹⁴ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*, provides requirements related to further audit procedures, including tests of controls and substantive procedures.

¹⁵ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph A14D

¹⁶ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), Appendix 1 paragraphs A14–A25

¹⁷ ~~ISA 520, Analytical Procedures~~

A37. Possible actions that the engagement team may take to mitigate impediments to the exercise of professional skepticism at the engagement level may include:

- ...
- Communicating with those charged with governance when management imposes undue pressure or the engagement team experiences difficulties in obtaining access to records, facilities, certain employees, customers, vendors or others from whom information intended to be used as audit evidence may be sought

Engagement Resources (Ref: Para. 25–28)

...

Technological Resources

...

A64A. Technological resources that are used directly by engagement teams may serve multiple purposes in planning and performing the engagement. Technological resources include technological tools that facilitate the design or performance of audit procedures in obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence.¹⁸

Examples of technological tools:

- IT applications that facilitate analysis of data using modeling and visualization or analysis of image processing technology.
- Engagement software built to manage workflows and assist in planning and performing audit procedures, analyzing evidence and reaching conclusions.
- Technologies that facilitate automating aspects of audit procedures (e.g., robotic process automation technologies), or that facilitate gathering and analysis of large amounts of information from various sources (e.g., artificial intelligence technologies).
- A spreadsheet programmed to perform functions related to designing or performing audit procedures (e.g., data analysis or generation of information to aid decision making).

A64B. In some circumstances, the entity may use complex or advanced technology to produce information relevant to the preparation of the financial statements. In such circumstances, the engagement partner may consider the entity's use of technology in determining whether sufficient and appropriate technological resources are assigned or made available to the engagement team. How the entity's use of technology affects the assigned resources of the auditor is a matter of professional judgment and is influenced by the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement.

Examples:

- An entity may use complex or advanced technology-enabled models to develop key assumptions used in estimating expected credit losses of loans. The engagement partner may determine that it is necessary for the engagement team to use a technological tool to evaluate the assumptions generated by the models.

¹⁸ ISQM 1, paragraph A99A

- An entity may use a distributed ledger technology to conduct and record transactions of digital assets. The engagement partner may determine that it is necessary for the engagement team to use a technological tool to facilitate the retrieval of the entity's transaction data from the distributed ledger, as it may not be possible or practicable to perform the audit procedure without using such a tool.

- A65. The firm's policies or procedures may include required considerations or responsibilities for the engagement team when using firm approved technological tools ~~to perform audit procedures~~ and may require the involvement of individuals with specialized skills or expertise in evaluating or analyzing the output.
- A66. When the engagement partner requires individuals from another firm to use specific ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques when performing audit procedures~~, communications with those individuals may indicate that the use of such ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ needs to comply with the engagement team's instructions.
- A67. The firm's policies or procedures may specifically prohibit the use of certain ~~IT application~~ technological tools or features of ~~IT application~~ technological tools (e.g., software that has not yet been specifically approved for use by the firm). Alternatively, the firm's policies or procedures may require the engagement team to take certain actions before using ~~an IT application~~ technological tool that is not firm-approved to determine it is appropriate for use, for example by requiring:
- The engagement team to have appropriate competence and capabilities to use the ~~IT application~~ technological tool.
 - Testing the operation and security of the ~~IT application~~ technological tool.
 - Specific documentation to be included in the audit file.
- A68. The engagement partner may exercise professional judgment in considering whether the use of ~~an IT application~~ technological tool on the audit engagement is appropriate in the context of the engagement, and if so, how the ~~technological tool~~ IT application is to be used. Factors that may be considered in determining whether a particular ~~technological tool~~ IT application, that has not been specifically approved for use by the firm, is appropriate for use in the audit engagement include whether:
- Use and security of the ~~technological tool~~ IT application complies with the firm's policies or procedures.
 - The ~~technological tool~~ IT application operates as intended.
 - Personnel have the competence and capabilities required to use the ~~technological tool~~ IT application.

Competence and Capabilities of the Engagement Team (Ref: Para. 26)

- A72. When determining that the engagement team has the appropriate competence and capabilities, the engagement partner may take into consideration such matters as the team's:
- Understanding of, and practical experience with, audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity through appropriate training and participation.

- Understanding of professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
- Expertise in specialized areas of accounting or auditing.
- Expertise in IT used by the entity or automated-technological tools ~~or techniques~~ that are to be used by the engagement team in planning and performing the audit engagement.
- Knowledge of relevant industries in which the entity being audited operates.
- Ability to exercise professional skepticism and professional judgment.
- Understanding of the firm's policies or procedures.

...

ISA 230, AUDIT DOCUMENTATION

Introduction

...

Definitions

...

6. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:
- (a) Audit documentation – The record of audit procedures performed, relevant audit evidence obtained, and conclusions the auditor reached (terms such as “working papers” or “workpapers” are also sometimes used).
 - (b) Audit file – One or more folders or other storage media, in physical or electronic-digital form, containing the records that comprise the audit documentation for a specific engagement.
 - (c) ...

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

- A3. Audit documentation may be recorded on paper or on electronic-digital or other media. Examples of audit documentation include:
- Audit programs.
 - Analyses.

...

Appendix

(Ref: Para. 1)

Specific Audit Documentation Requirements in Other ISAs

This appendix identifies paragraphs in other ISAs that contain specific documentation requirements. The list is not a substitute for considering the requirements and related application and other explanatory material in ISAs.

- ...
- [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks* – paragraphs 28–30
- ...

ISA 240 (REVISED), THE AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES RELATING TO FRAUD IN AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial statements and the implications for the auditor's report. The requirements and guidance in this ISA refer to, or expand on, the application of other relevant ISAs, in particular ISA 200,¹⁹ ISA 220 (Revised),²⁰ ISA 315 (Revised 2019),²¹ [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#),²² and ISA 701.²³ Accordingly, this ISA is intended to be applied in conjunction with other relevant ISAs.

Requirements

Responses to the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement Due to Fraud

- ...
44. In accordance with [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#),²⁴ the auditor shall determine overall responses to address the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud at the financial statement level. (Ref: Para. A128)
- ...
46. In accordance with [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#),²⁵ the auditor shall design and perform further audit procedures whose nature, timing and extent are based on and are responsive to the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud at the assertion level. (Ref: Para. A129–A135)
- ...
53. In applying [Proposed](#) ISA 520 [\(Revised\)](#),²⁶ the auditor shall determine whether the results of analytical procedures that are performed near the end of the audit, when forming an overall conclusion as to whether the financial statements are consistent with the auditor's understanding of

¹⁹ ISA 200, *Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing*

²⁰ ISA 220 (Revised), *Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements*

²¹ ISA 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*

²² [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

²³ ISA 701, *Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report*

²⁴ [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#), paragraph 5

²⁵ [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#), paragraph 6

²⁶ [Proposed](#) ISA 520 [\(Revised\)](#), *Analytical Procedures*, paragraph 6

the entity, indicate a previously unrecognized risk of material misstatement due to fraud. (Ref: Para. A154–A155)

54. In applying Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),²⁷ the auditor shall evaluate, based on the audit procedures performed and audit evidence obtained, whether:
- (a) The assessments of the risks of material misstatement due to fraud remain appropriate; and
 - (b) Sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained in response to the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

...

56. Except for fraud or suspected fraud determined by the auditor to be clearly inconsequential based on the procedures performed in paragraph 55, the engagement partner shall: (Ref: Para. A163–A165)

- (a) Determine whether:
 - (i) To perform additional risk assessment procedures to provide an appropriate basis for the identification and assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to fraud in accordance with ISA 315 (Revised 2019);
 - (ii) To design and perform further audit procedures to appropriately respond to the risks of material misstatement due to fraud in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised); and
 - (iii) There are additional responsibilities for the auditor under law, regulation or relevant ethical requirements about the entity's non-compliance with laws or regulations in accordance with ISA 250 (Revised).

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

- A9. The auditor may use automated-technological tools ~~and techniques~~ to perform audit procedures related to identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement due to fraud or when responding to assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud. This may allow the auditor to evaluate large amounts of data more easily to, for example, provide deeper insights or identify unusual trends, which enhances the ability of the auditor to exercise professional skepticism and more effectively challenge management's assertions. The auditor may also use automated technological tools ~~and techniques~~ to perform audit procedures related to journal entry testing in a more efficient and effective manner. However, the use of ~~automated-technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ does not replace the need to maintain professional skepticism and to exercise professional judgment throughout the audit.

...

Professional Skepticism (Ref: Para. 7, 19–22 and 55–58)

...

²⁷ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 25–~~26~~25A, A62–~~A64~~A63A

- A28. The manner in which circumstances that may be indicative of fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity come to the auditor's attention throughout the audit may vary.

Examples:

Possible sources that may provide information about circumstances that may be indicative of fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity include:

- ...
- A former employee (e.g., by sending a complaint via ~~electronic~~ email to the internal audit function).

...

Conditions That Cause the Auditor to Believe That a Record or Document May Not Be Authentic or That the Terms in a Document Have Been Modified

- A34. Proposed ISA 500 (Revised)²⁸ requires the auditor to ~~consider~~ evaluate the relevance and reliability of information intended to be used as audit evidence when designing and performing audit procedures. The reliability of information intended to be used as audit evidence deals with the degree to which the auditor may depend on such information. Authenticity is an attribute of the reliability of information that the auditor may consider. In doing so, the auditor may consider whether the information has been generated by or provided by a source authorized to do so, and the information has not been altered in a manner that makes it unreliable for the audit. ~~the source actually generated or provided the information, and was authorized to do so, and the information has not been inappropriately altered.~~
- A35. Audit procedures performed in accordance with Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), this or other ISAs, or information from other sources, may bring to the auditor's attention conditions that cause the auditor to believe that a record or document may not be authentic or that terms in a document have been modified but not disclosed to the auditor. The auditor is not, however, required to perform procedures that are specifically designed to identify conditions that indicate that a record or document may not be authentic or that terms in a document have been modified. Paragraph 22 applies if the auditor identifies such conditions during the course of the audit.

Examples:

Conditions that, if identified, may cause the auditor to believe that a record or document is not authentic or that terms in a document have been modified but not disclosed to the auditor include:

- ...
- ~~Electronic documents~~ Documents in digital form with a last edited date that is after the date they were represented as finalized.

- A36. When conditions are identified that cause the auditor to believe that a record or document may not be authentic or that terms in a document have been modified but not disclosed to the auditor, possible additional audit procedures to investigate further may include:

- Inquiries of management or others within the entity.

²⁸ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*, paragraph 79

- Confirming directly with the third party.
- Using the work of an expert to evaluate the document's authenticity.
- Using ~~automated technological tools and techniques~~, such as document authenticity or integrity technology, to evaluate the authenticity of the record or document.

A37. When the results of the additional audit procedures indicate that a record or document is not authentic or that the terms in a document have been modified ~~but not disclosed to the auditor~~, the auditor may determine that the circumstances are indicative of fraud or suspected fraud and, accordingly, performs audit procedures in accordance with paragraphs 55–58.

...

A40. Forensic skills, in the context of an audit of financial statements, may combine accounting, auditing and investigative skills. Such skills may be applied in an investigation and evaluation of an entity's accounting records to obtain possible evidence of fraudulent financial reporting or misappropriation of assets, or in performing audit procedures. The use of forensic skills may also assist the auditor in evaluating whether there is management override of controls or intentional management bias in financial reporting.

Examples:

Forensic skills may include specialized skills or knowledge in:

- Identifying ...
- ...
- Gathering, analyzing, and evaluating information or data using ~~automated technological tools and techniques~~ to identify links, patterns, or trends that may be indicative of fraud or suspected fraud.
- Applying knowledge in fraud schemes, and techniques for interviews, information gathering and data analytics, in the detection of fraud.
- ...
- Analyzing financial and non-financial information by using ~~automated technological tools and techniques~~ to look for inconsistencies, unusual patterns, or anomalies that may indicate intentional management bias or that may be the result of management override of controls.

A41. In determining whether the engagement team has the appropriate competence and capabilities, the engagement partner may consider matters such as expertise in IT systems or IT applications used by the entity or ~~automated technological tools or techniques~~ that are to be used by the engagement team in planning and performing the audit (e.g., when testing a high volume of journal entries and other adjustments when responding to the risks related to management override of controls).

...

A56. The following approaches may be useful to facilitate the exchange of ideas:

- 'What-if' scenarios – these may be helpful when discussing whether certain events or conditions create an environment at the entity where one or more individuals among management, those charged with governance, or employees have the incentive or pressure to

commit fraud, a perceived opportunity to do so and some rationalization of the act, and if so, how the fraud may occur.

- ~~Automated-Technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ – these may be used to support the discussion about the susceptibility of the entity's financial statements to material misstatement due to fraud. For example, ~~automated-technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ may be used to support the identification of fraud risk factors, including ~~techniques that to~~ further ~~the understanding of the~~ incentives and pressures, such as industry or sector financial ratio benchmarking. Unusual relationships within the entity's current period data (e.g., financial and operating data) may indicate adverse ratios or trends compared to competitors or the entity's past performance.

...

Obtaining an Understanding of the Entity and Its Environment, the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework and the Entity's System of Internal Control

...

A66. Performance measures, whether internal or external, may create pressures on the entity. These pressures, in turn, may motivate management or employees to take action to inappropriately improve the business performance or to misstate the financial statements. Internal performance measures may include employee performance measures and incentive compensation policies. External performance measures may include expectations from shareholders, analysts, or other users.

Example:

~~Automated-Technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~, such as analysis of disaggregated data, for example by business segment or product line, may be used by the auditor to identify inconsistencies or anomalies in the data used in performance measures.

...

Control Deficiencies Within the Entity's System of Internal Control (Ref: Para. 37)

A108. In performing the evaluations of each of the components of the entity's system of internal control, the auditor may determine that certain of the entity's policies in a component are not appropriate to the nature and circumstances of the entity. Such a determination may be an indicator, which assists the auditor in identifying deficiencies in internal control that are relevant to the prevention and detection of fraud. If the auditor has identified one or more control deficiencies relevant to the prevention or detection of fraud, the auditor may consider the effect of those control deficiencies on the design of further audit procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).

...

A126. Incorporating an element...

Example:

...

- Performing ~~substantive~~ analytical procedures at a more ~~detailed-disaggregated~~ level ~~or lowering thresholds when performing substantive analytical procedures for further investigation of unusual or unexpected relationships.~~

- Using ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~, such as anomaly detection or statistical methods, on an entire population to identify items for further investigation.

...

A128. In accordance with paragraph 39(b),...

Examples:

- Increased...
- ...
- Using direct extraction methods or technologies when obtaining data from the entity's information system for use in ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ to address the risk of data manipulation.
- ...

A129. In accordance with paragraph 39(b), assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud are treated as significant risks. Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) requires the auditor to plan to obtain more persuasive audit evidence the higher the auditor's assessment of inherent risk is on the spectrum of inherent risk. When obtaining more persuasive audit evidence to respond to assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud, the auditor may increase the quantity of the evidence obtained, or obtain evidence that is of higher quality, by altering the nature, timing and extent of procedures performed to address the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud ~~more relevant and reliable, for example, by placing more emphasis on obtaining third-party evidence or by obtaining audit evidence from a number of independent sources.~~

Examples:

Nature

- ...

Timing

- ...

Extent

- The auditor may use ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ to perform more extensive testing of digital information. Such ~~automated techniques~~ technological tools may be used to test all items in a population, select specific items for testing that are responsive to risks of material misstatement due to fraud, or select items for testing when performing audit sampling. For example, the auditor may stratify the population based on specific characteristics to obtain more relevant audit evidence that is responsive to the risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

External Confirmation Procedures

A130. In applying Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),²⁹ external confirmation procedures may be considered useful when seeking audit evidence that is not biased towards corroborating or contradicting a relevant assertion in the financial statements, especially in instances where risks of material misstatement due to fraud have been identified related to the class of transactions, account balance or disclosure.

...

A133. ISA 505 includes factors that may indicate doubts about the reliability of a response to an external confirmation request, since all responses carry some risk of interception, alteration, or fraud. This may be the case when the response to a confirmation request:

- Is sent from an e-mail address that is not recognized.
- Does not include the original ~~electronic~~ e-mail chain or any other information indicating that the confirming party is responding to the auditor's confirmation request.
- Contains unusual restrictions or disclaimers.

...

A145. Paragraph 49(d) requires the auditor to determine whether there is also a need to test journal entries and other adjustments throughout the period because material misstatements due to fraud can occur throughout the period and may involve extensive efforts to conceal how the fraud is accomplished.

Examples:

- Risks of material misstatement that may be strongly linked to fraud schemes that can occur over a long period of time (e.g., complex related party transaction structures that may obscure their economic substance).
- Anomalies or outliers in the journal entry data throughout the period that may be detected from the use of automated-technological tools ~~and techniques~~.

Considering the use of automated-technological tools ~~and techniques~~ when testing journal entries and other adjustments (Ref: Para. 49(b) and 49(c))

A147. The auditor may consider the use of automated-technological tools ~~and techniques~~ when testing journal entries and other adjustments (e.g., determining the completeness of the population or selecting items to test). Such consideration may be impacted by the entity's use of technology in processing journal entries and other adjustments.

...

A151. The auditor may use automated-technological tools ~~and techniques~~ to review accounting estimates for management bias....

...

²⁹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 19

Analytical Procedures Performed Near the End of the Audit in Forming an Overall Conclusion (Ref: Para. 53)

A154. Proposed ISA 520 (Revised) explains that the analytical procedures performed near the end of the audit are intended to corroborate conclusions formed during the audit of individual components or elements of the financial statements.³⁰ However, the auditor may perform the analytical procedures at a more granular level for certain higher risk classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures to determine whether certain trends or relationships may indicate a previously unidentified risk of material misstatement due to fraud. Determining which particular trends and relationships may indicate a risk of material misstatement due to fraud requires professional judgment. Unusual relationships involving year-end revenue and income are particularly relevant.

Examples:

- Uncharacteristically large amounts of income being reported in the last few weeks of the reporting period.
- Unusual transactions.
- Income or expenses that are inconsistent with trends in cash flow from operations:
 - Uncharacteristically low amounts of revenue or expenses at the start of the subsequent period; or
 - Uncharacteristically high levels of refunds or credit notes at the start of the subsequent period.

A155. The auditor may use automated technological tools ~~and techniques~~ to identify unusual or inconsistent transaction posting patterns in order to determine if there is a previously unrecognized risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

...

Written Representations (Ref: Para. 63)

A193. ISA 580 establishes requirements and provides guidance on obtaining appropriate representations from management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance in the audit. Although written representations are an important source of audit evidence, they do not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence on their own about any of the matters with which they deal. In addition, since management are in a unique position to perpetrate fraud, it is important for the auditor to consider all audit evidence obtained, including audit evidence that is consistent or inconsistent with other audit evidence, and regardless of whether it appears to corroborate or to contradict the assertions in the financial statements, in drawing the conclusion required in accordance with ISA 330700 (Revised).³¹

...

³⁰ Proposed ISA 520 (Revised), paragraphs A17–A19

³¹ ISA 330700 (Revised), paragraph 2611A

Appendix 2

(Ref: Para. A59, A127 and A135)

Examples of Possible Audit Procedures to Address the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement Due to Fraud

The following...

Consideration at the Assertion Level

Specific responses to the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to fraud will vary depending upon the types or combinations of fraud risk factors or conditions identified, and the classes of transactions, account balances, disclosures and assertions they may affect.

The following are specific examples of responses:

- ...
- Using ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~, such as data mining to test for anomalies in a population. For example, using ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ to identify numbers that have been used frequently as there may be an unconscious bias by management or employees when posting fraudulent journal entries and other adjustments to use the same number repetitively.
- ...

Specific Responses—Misstatement Resulting from Fraudulent Financial Reporting

Examples of responses to the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to fraudulent financial reporting are as follows:

Revenue Recognition

- Performing substantive analytical procedures relating to revenue using disaggregated data, for example, comparing revenue reported by month and by product line or business segment during the current reporting period with comparable prior periods. ~~Automated—Technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ may be useful in identifying unusual or unexpected revenue relationships or transactions.
- ...
- For those situations for which revenue transactions are ~~electronically~~ initiated, processed, and recorded in digital form, testing controls to determine whether they provide assurance that recorded revenue transactions occurred and are properly recorded.
- ...

Inventory Quantities

- ...
- Using ~~automated technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~ to further test the compilation of the physical inventory counts – for example, sorting by tag number to test tag controls or by item serial number to test the possibility of item omission or duplication.

...

Appendix 3

(Ref: Para. A29)

Examples of Circumstances that May Be Indicative of Fraud or Suspected Fraud

The following are examples of circumstances that may indicate that the financial statements may contain a material misstatement due to fraud.

...

Conflicting or missing evidence, including:

- ...
- Unavailability of other than photocopied documents or ~~electronically documents~~ transmitted in digital form, ~~documents~~ when documents in original form are expected to exist.
- ...
- Unavailable or missing ~~electronic~~ evidence in digital form, inconsistent with the entity's record retention practices or policies.
- ...

...

Problematic or unusual relationships between the auditor and management, including:

- ...
- An unwillingness to facilitate auditor access to key ~~electronic~~ files in digital form for testing through the use of ~~automated technological tools and techniques~~.
- ...

...

Appendix 4

(Ref: Para. A100, A104 and A143)

Additional Considerations that May Inform the Auditor When Selecting Journal Entries and Other Adjustments for Testing

The following considerations are of relevance when selecting journal entries and other adjustments for testing:

...

- ...
- Understanding of the entity's controls designed to prevent or detect fraud over journal entries³² (see also paragraph 36 of this ISA) – for many entities, routine processing of transactions involves a combination of manual and automated controls. Similarly, the processing of journal entries and other adjustments may involve both manual and automated controls across one or multiple IT systems.

³² ISA 315 (Revised 2019), paragraph 26

Where IT is used in the financial reporting process, journal entries and other adjustments may exist only in ~~electronic~~digital form.

- The types of controls designed to prevent or detect fraud over journal entries may include authorizations and approvals, reconciliations, verifications (such as edit and validation checks or automated calculations), segregation of duties, and physical or logical controls.

...

ISA 250 (REVISED), CONSIDERATION OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS IN AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

The Auditor's Consideration of Compliance with Laws and Regulations

...

Non-Compliance Brought to the Auditor's Attention by Other Audit Procedures (Ref: Para. 16)

A15. Audit procedures applied to form an opinion on the financial statements may bring instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations to the auditor's attention. For example, such audit procedures may include:

- Reading minutes;
- Inquiring of the entity's management and in-house legal counsel or external legal counsel concerning litigation, claims and assessments; and
- Performing ~~substantive~~ tests of details of classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures.

...

ISA 265, COMMUNICATING DEFICIENCIES IN INTERNAL CONTROL TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibility to communicate appropriately to those charged with governance and management deficiencies in internal control that the auditor has identified in an audit of financial statements. This ISA does not impose additional responsibilities on the auditor regarding obtaining an understanding of the entity's system of internal control and designing and performing tests of controls over and above the requirements of ISA 315

(Revised 2019)³³ and [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#).³⁴ ISA 260 (Revised)³⁵ establishes further requirements and provides guidance regarding the auditor's responsibility to communicate with those charged with governance in relation to the audit.

...

ISA 300, PLANNING AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

...

Requirements

...

8. In establishing the overall audit strategy, the auditor shall consider the information obtained from complying with the requirements of ISA 220 (Revised) and:
 - (a) Identify the characteristics of the engagement that define its scope;
 - (b) ...
 - (e) Ascertain the nature, timing and extent of [human, technological and intellectual](#) resources necessary to perform the engagement.³⁶ (Ref: Para. A9–A13)
9. The auditor shall develop an audit plan that shall include a description of:
 - (a) The nature, timing and extent of the planned direction and supervision of engagement team members and the review of their work. (Ref: Para. A14)
 - (b) The nature, timing and extent of planned risk assessment procedures, as determined under ISA 315 (Revised 2019).³⁷
 - (c) The nature, timing and extent of planned further audit procedures at the assertion level, as determined under [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#).³⁸
 - (d) Other planned audit procedures that are required to be carried out so that the engagement complies with ISAs. (Ref: Para. A15-A17)

...

³³ ISA 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*, paragraphs 12(c) and (m), and paragraphs 21 to 27.

³⁴ [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

³⁵ ISA 260 (Revised), *Communication with Those Charged with Governance*

³⁶ ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 25

³⁷ ISA 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*

³⁸ [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

Appendix

(Ref: Para. 7–8, A9–A14)

Considerations in Establishing the Overall Audit Strategy

...

Characteristics of the Engagement

- ...
- The effect of information technology on the audit procedures, including the availability of data and the expected use of ~~computer-assisted audit techniques~~technological tools.
- ...

ISA 315 (Revised 2019), IDENTIFYING AND ASSESSING THE RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT

Introduction

...

5. ISA 200 explains that risks of material misstatement are assessed at the assertion level in order to determine the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.³⁹ For the identified risks of material misstatement at the assertion level, a separate assessment of inherent risk and control risk is required by this ISA. The degree to which inherent risk varies is referred to in this ISA as the ‘spectrum of inherent risk.’
- ...
7. The auditor’s risk identification and assessment process is iterative and dynamic. The auditor’s understanding of the entity and its environment, the applicable financial reporting framework, and the entity’s system of internal control are interdependent with concepts within the requirements to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement. In obtaining the understanding required by this ISA, initial expectations of risks may be developed, which may be further refined as the auditor progresses through the risk identification and assessment process. In addition, this ISA and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) require the auditor to revise the risk assessments, and modify further overall responses and further audit procedures, based on audit evidence obtained from performing further audit procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), or if new information is obtained.
8. Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) requires the auditor to design and implement overall responses to address the assessed risks of material misstatement at the financial statement level.⁴⁰ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) further explains that the auditor’s assessment of the risks of material misstatement at the financial statement level, and the auditor’s overall responses, is affected by the auditor’s understanding of the control environment. Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) also requires the auditor to design and perform further audit procedures whose nature, timing and extent are based on and are responsive to the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level.⁴¹

³⁹ ISA 200, paragraph A46 and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor’s Responses to Assessed Risks*, paragraph 6

⁴⁰ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 5

⁴¹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 6

...

Definitions

12. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

- (a)A Accounting records – The records of initial accounting entries and supporting records, such as payment records, including electronic fund transfers; invoices; contracts; the general and subsidiary ledgers, journal entries and other adjustments to the financial statements that are not reflected in journal entries; and records such as work sheets and spreadsheets supporting cost allocations, computations, reconciliations and disclosures.
- (a) Assertions – Representations, explicit or otherwise, with respect to the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of information in the financial statements which are inherent in management representing that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Assertions are used by the auditor to consider the different types of potential misstatements that may occur when identifying, assessing and responding to the risks of material misstatement. (Ref: Para. A1)

Requirements

Risk Assessment Procedures and Related Activities

13. The auditor shall design and perform risk assessment procedures to obtain audit evidence that provides an appropriate basis for: (Ref: Para. A11–A18)
- (a) The identification and assessment of risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, at the financial statement and assertion levels; and
- (b) The design of further audit procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).

...

Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement (Ref: Para. A184–A185)

Identifying Risks of Material Misstatement

...

29. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**]

...

Assessing Control Risk

34. If the auditor plans to test the operating effectiveness of controls as part of the further audit procedures, the auditor shall assess control risk. If the auditor does not plan to test the operating effectiveness of controls, the auditor's assessment of control risk shall be such that the assessment of the risk of material misstatement is the same as the assessment of inherent risk. (Ref: Para. A226–A229)

Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained from the Risk Assessment Procedures

35. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**]

Classes of Transactions, Account Balances and Disclosures that Are Not Significant, but ~~Which-That~~ Are Material

36. [Refer to Agenda Item 7–E]

Revision of Risk Assessment

37. [Refer to Agenda Item 7–E]

...

Documentation

38. [Refer to Agenda Item 7–E]

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

Risk Assessment Procedures and Related Activities (Ref: Para. 13–18)

...

Sources of Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 13)

A15. Designing and performing risk assessment procedures to obtain audit evidence in an unbiased manner may involve obtaining evidence from multiple sources within and outside the entity. However, the auditor is not required to perform an exhaustive search to identify all possible sources of audit evidence. In addition to information from other sources,⁴² sources of information for risk assessment procedures may include:

- Interactions with management, those charged with governance, and other key entity personnel, such as internal auditors.
- Certain external parties such as regulators, whether obtained directly or indirectly.
- Publicly available information about the entity, for example entity-issued press releases, materials for analysts or investor group meetings, analysts' reports or information about trading activity.

Regardless of the source of information, the auditor ~~considers-evaluates~~ the relevance and reliability of the information intended to be used as audit evidence in accordance with Proposed ISA 500 (Revised).⁴³

A19. Proposed ISA 500 (Revised)⁴⁴ explains the types of audit procedures that may be performed in obtaining audit evidence from risk assessment procedures and further audit procedures. The nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures may be affected by the fact that some of the accounting data and other evidence may only be available in electronic-digital form or only at certain points in

⁴² See paragraphs A37 and A38

⁴³ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*, paragraph 79

⁴⁴ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraphs A14D, A16 A14–A17 and A21–A25Appendix 1

time.⁴⁵ The auditor may perform substantive procedures or tests of controls, in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), concurrently with risk assessment procedures, when it is efficient to do so. Audit evidence obtained that supports the identification and assessment of risks of material misstatement may also support the detection of misstatements at the assertion level or the evaluation of the operating effectiveness of controls. As required by Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), when the auditor uses an audit procedure for more than one purpose, the auditor evaluates whether the audit evidence obtained meets each intended purpose.⁴⁶

...

Automated Technological Tools and Techniques (Ref: Para. 14)

A21. Using automated technological tools and techniques, the auditor may perform risk assessment procedures on large volumes of data (from the general ledger, sub-ledgers or other operational data) including for analysis, recalculations, reperformance or reconciliations.

...

Analytical Procedures (Ref: Para. 14(b))

Why Analytical Procedures Are Performed as a Risk Assessment Procedure

...

A28. Analytical procedures performed as risk assessment procedures may therefore assist in identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, at the financial statement and assertion level, by identifying aspects of the entity of which the auditor was unaware or understanding how inherent risk factors, such as change, affect susceptibility of assertions to misstatement.

Types of Analytical Procedures

...

A30. This ISA deals with the auditor's use of analytical procedures as risk assessment procedures as described in paragraphs A27–A29. Proposed ISA 520 (Revised)⁴⁷ deals with the auditor's use of substantive analytical procedures ~~as substantive procedures ("substantive analytical procedures"). It also deals with~~ and the auditor's responsibility relating to the results of analytical procedures used as risk assessment procedures and to perform analytical procedures near the end of the audit. ~~Accordingly, analytical procedures performed as risk assessment procedures are not required to be performed in accordance with the requirements of ISA 520. However, the requirements and application material in ISA 520 may provide useful guidance to the auditor when performing analytical procedures as part of the risk assessment procedures.~~

Automated tools and techniques Technological tools

⁴⁵ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph A16A42

⁴⁶ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph 8A

⁴⁷ Proposed ISA 520 (Revised), *Analytical Procedures*

- A31. Analytical procedures can be performed using ~~a number of tools or techniques, which may be automated technological tools~~. ~~Applying automated analytical procedures to the data may be referred to as data analytics.~~

Example:

The auditor may use a spreadsheet to perform a comparison of actual recorded amounts to budgeted amounts, or may perform a more advanced procedure by extracting data from the entity's information system, and further analyzing this data using visualization techniques to identify classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures for which further specific risk assessment procedures may be warranted.

...

~~Automated Technological tools and techniques~~

- A35. ~~Automated Technological tools or techniques~~ may also be used to observe or inspect, in particular assets, for example through the use of remote observation tools (e.g., a drone).

...

- A51. The auditor's understanding of the entity and its environment, and the applicable financial reporting framework, also informs how the auditor plans and performs further audit procedures, for example, when:

- Developing expectations for use when performing analytical procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 520 (Revised),⁴⁸
- Designing and performing further audit procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised); and
- Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence obtained (e.g., relating to assumptions or management's oral and written representations).

...

~~Automated Technological tools and techniques~~

- A57. The auditor may use ~~automated technological tools and techniques~~ to understand flows of transactions and processing as part of the auditor's procedures to understand the information system. An outcome of these procedures may be that the auditor obtains information about the entity's organizational structure or those with whom the entity conducts business (e.g., vendors, customers, related parties).

...

- A85. Understanding the entity and its environment, and the applicable financial reporting framework, assists the auditor in identifying events or conditions, the characteristics of which may affect the susceptibility of assertions about classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures to misstatement. These characteristics are inherent risk factors. Inherent risk factors may affect susceptibility of assertions to misstatement by influencing the likelihood of occurrence of a misstatement or the magnitude of the misstatement if it were to occur. Understanding how inherent risk factors affect the susceptibility of assertions to misstatement may assist the auditor with a

⁴⁸ Proposed ISA 520 (Revised), paragraph 5

preliminary understanding of the likelihood or magnitude of misstatements, which assists the auditor in identifying risks of material misstatement at the assertion level in accordance with paragraph 28(b). Understanding the degree to which inherent risk factors affect susceptibility of assertions to misstatement also assists the auditor in assessing the likelihood and magnitude of a possible misstatement when assessing inherent risk in accordance with paragraph 31(a). Accordingly, understanding the inherent risk factors may also assist the auditor in designing and performing further audit procedures in accordance with [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#).

...

Control Environment, The Entity's Risk Assessment Process and the Entity's Process to Monitor the System of Internal Control (Ref: Para. 21–24)

...

A98. Because these components are foundational to the entity's system of internal control, any deficiencies in their operation could have pervasive effects on the preparation of the financial statements. Therefore, the auditor's understanding and evaluations of these components affect the auditor's identification and assessment of risks of material misstatement at the financial statement level, and may also affect the identification and assessment of risks of material misstatement at the assertion level. Risks of material misstatement at the financial statement level affect the auditor's design of overall responses, including, as explained in [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#), an influence on the nature, timing and extent of the auditor's further procedures.⁴⁹

...

A125. The auditor is required to identify specific controls in the control activities component, and evaluate the design and determine whether the controls have been implemented, as it assists the auditor's understanding about management's approach to addressing certain risks and therefore provides a basis for the design and performance of further audit procedures responsive to these risks as required by [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#). The higher on the spectrum of inherent risk an [inherent](#) risk is assessed, the more persuasive the audit evidence needs to be. Even when the auditor does not plan to test the operating effectiveness of identified controls, the auditor's understanding may still affect the design of the nature, timing and extent of substantive audit procedures that are responsive to the related risks of material misstatement.

...

Scalability

A131. The information system, and related business processes, in less complex entities are likely to be less sophisticated than in larger entities, and are likely to involve a less complex IT environment; however, the role of the information system is just as important. Less complex entities with direct management involvement may not need extensive descriptions of accounting procedures, sophisticated accounting records, or written policies. Understanding the relevant aspects of the entity's information system may therefore require less effort in an audit of a less complex entity, and may involve a greater amount of inquiry than observation or inspection of documentation. The need to obtain an understanding, however, remains important to provide a basis for the design of further audit

⁴⁹ [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#), paragraphs A1–A3A

procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) and may further assist the auditor in identifying or assessing risks of material misstatement (see paragraph A86).

...

Automated Technological tools and techniques

A137. The auditor may also use ~~automated techniques~~technological tools to obtain direct access to, or a digital download from, the databases in the entity's information system that store accounting records of transactions. By applying ~~automated technological tools or techniques~~ to this information, the auditor may confirm the understanding obtained about how transactions flow through the information system by tracing journal entries, or other digital records related to a particular transaction, or an entire population of transactions, from initiation in the accounting records through to recording in the general ledger. Analysis of complete or large sets of transactions may also result in the identification of variations from the normal, or expected, processing procedures for these transactions, which may result in the identification of risks of material misstatement.

...

A151. The controls that the auditor is required to identify and evaluate the design, and determine the implementation of, in accordance with paragraph 26 are those:

- Controls which the auditor plans to test the operating effectiveness of in determining the nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures. The evaluation of such controls provides the basis for the auditor's design of test of control procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised). These controls also include controls that address risks for which substantive procedures alone do not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence.
- Controls include controls that address significant risks and controls over journal entries. The auditor's identification and evaluation of such controls may also influence the auditor's understanding of the risks of material misstatement, including the identification of additional risks of material misstatement (see paragraph A95). This understanding also provides the basis for the auditor's design of the nature, timing and extent of substantive audit procedures that are responsive to the related assessed risks of material misstatement.
- Other controls that the auditor considers are appropriate to enable the auditor to meet the objectives of paragraph 13 with respect to risks at the assertion level, based on the auditor's professional judgment.

...

A158. Regardless of whether the auditor plans to test the operating effectiveness of controls that address significant risks, the understanding obtained about management's approach to addressing those risks may provide a basis for the design and performance of substantive procedures responsive to significant risks as required by Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).⁵⁰ Although risks relating to significant non-routine or judgmental matters are often less likely to be subject to routine controls, management may have other responses intended to deal with such risks. Accordingly, the auditor's understanding of whether the entity has designed and implemented controls for significant risks arising from non-

⁵⁰ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 21

routine or judgmental matters may include whether and how management responds to the risks. Such responses may include:

- Controls, such as a review of assumptions by senior management or experts.
- Documented processes for accounting estimations.
- Approval by those charged with governance.

Example:

Where there are one-off events such as the receipt of a notice of a significant lawsuit, consideration of the entity's response may include such matters as whether it has been referred to appropriate experts (such as internal or external legal counsel), whether an assessment has been made of the potential effect, and how it is proposed that the circumstances are to be disclosed in the financial statements.

...

Controls over journal entries (Ref: Para. 26(a)(ii))

A160. Controls that address risks of material misstatement at the assertion level that are expected to be identified for all audits are controls over journal entries, because the manner in which an entity incorporates information from transaction processing into the general ledger ordinarily involves the use of journal entries, whether standard or non-standard, or automated or manual. The extent to which other controls are identified may vary based on the nature of the entity and the auditor's planned approach to further audit procedures.

Example:

In an audit of a less complex entity, the entity's information system may not be complex and the auditor may not plan to ~~rely on the operating effectiveness of test~~ controls. Further, the auditor may not have identified any significant risks or any other risks of material misstatement for which it is necessary for the auditor to evaluate the design of controls and determine that they have been implemented. In such an audit, the auditor may determine that there are no identified controls other than the entity's controls over journal entries.

~~Automated Technological~~ tools ~~and techniques~~

A161. In manual general ledger systems, non-standard journal entries may be identified through inspection of ledgers, journals, and supporting documentation. When automated procedures are used to maintain the general ledger and prepare financial statements, such entries may exist only in ~~electronic-digital~~ form and may therefore be more easily identified through the use of ~~automated techniques~~ technological tools.

...

Controls for which the auditor plans to test the operating effectiveness (Ref: Para. 26(a)(iii))

A162. The auditor determines whether there are any risks of material misstatement at the assertion level for which it is not possible to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence through substantive

procedures alone. The auditor is required, in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),⁵¹ to design and perform tests of controls that address such risks of material misstatement when substantive procedures alone do not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence at the assertion level. As a result, when such controls exist that address these risks, they are required to be identified and evaluated.

A163. In other cases, when the auditor plans to ~~test take into account~~ the operating effectiveness of controls ~~as part of the further audit procedures in determining the nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures~~ in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), such controls are also required to be identified.⁵² ~~because ISA 330⁵³ requires the auditor to design and perform tests of those controls.~~

Examples:

The auditor may plan to test the operating effectiveness of controls:

- Over routine classes of transactions because such testing may be more effective or efficient for large volumes of homogenous transactions.
- Over the completeness and accuracy of information produced by the entity (e.g., controls over the preparation of system-generated reports), to determine the reliability of that information, when the auditor intends to take into account the operating effectiveness of those controls in designing and performing further audit procedures.
- Relating to operations and compliance objectives when they relate to data the auditor evaluates or uses in applying audit procedures.

...

Identifying IT applications and other aspects of the IT environment (Ref: Para. 26(b))

Why the auditor identifies risks arising from the use of IT and general IT controls related to identified IT applications and other aspects of the IT environment

A166. Understanding the risks arising from the use of IT and the general IT controls implemented by the entity to address those risks may affect:

- The auditor's decision about whether to test the operating effectiveness of controls to address risks of material misstatement at the assertion level;

Example:

When general IT controls are not designed effectively or appropriately implemented to address risks arising from the use of IT (e.g., controls do not appropriately prevent or detect unauthorized program changes or unauthorized access to IT applications), this may affect the auditor's decision to ~~rely on test~~ automated controls within the affected IT applications.

- ...

⁵¹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 8(b)

⁵² Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 6 and 8(a)

⁵³ ~~Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 8(a)~~

...

Identifying IT applications that are subject to risks arising from the use of IT

...

A169. The controls identified by the auditor may depend on system-generated reports, in which case the IT applications that produce those reports may be subject to risks arising from the use of IT. In other cases, the auditor may not plan to ~~rely on test~~ controls over the system-generated reports and plan to directly test the inputs and outputs of such reports, in which case the auditor may not identify the related IT applications as being subject to risks arising from IT.

...

A180. Evaluating the design and determining the implementation of identified controls in the control activities component is not sufficient to ~~test~~ obtain audit evidence about their operating effectiveness. However, for automated controls, the auditor may plan to test the operating effectiveness of automated controls by identifying and testing general IT controls that provide for the consistent operation of an automated control instead of performing tests of operating effectiveness on the automated controls directly. Obtaining audit evidence about the implementation of a manual control at a point in time does not provide audit evidence about the operating effectiveness of the control at other times during the period under audit. Tests of the operating effectiveness of controls as part of the further audit procedures, including tests of indirect controls, are further described in Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).⁵⁴

A181. When the auditor does not plan to test the operating effectiveness of identified controls as part of the further audit procedures, the auditor's understanding may still assist in the design of the nature, timing and extent of substantive audit procedures that are responsive to the related risks of material misstatement.

Example:

The results of these risk assessment procedures may provide a basis for the auditor's consideration of possible deviations in a population when designing audit samples.

A182. In performing the evaluations of each of the components of the entity's system of internal control,⁵⁵ the auditor may determine that certain of the entity's policies in a component are not appropriate to the nature and circumstances of the entity. Such a determination may be an indicator that assists the auditor in identifying control deficiencies. If the auditor has identified one or more control deficiencies, the auditor may consider the effect of those control deficiencies on the design of further audit procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).

...

A185. Information gathered by performing risk assessment procedures is used as audit evidence to provide the basis for the identification and assessment of the risks of material misstatement. For example, the audit evidence obtained when evaluating the design of identified controls and determining whether those controls have been implemented in the control activities component, is used as audit

⁵⁴ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 8–11B

⁵⁵ Paragraphs 21(b), 22(b), 24(c), 25(c) and 26(d)

evidence to support the risk assessment. Such evidence also provides a basis for the auditor to design overall responses to address the assessed risks of material misstatement at the financial statement level, as well as designing and performing further audit procedures whose nature, timing and extent are responsive to the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level, in accordance with [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#).

...

A193. The auditor identifies risks of material misstatement at the financial statement level to determine whether the risks have a pervasive effect on the financial statements, and would therefore require an overall response in accordance with [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#).⁵⁶

...

Relevant Assertions and Significant Classes of Transactions, Account Balances and Disclosures (Ref: Para. 29)

Why Relevant Assertions and Significant Classes of Transactions, Account Balances and Disclosures Are Determined

A202. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**].

[Automated Technological Tools and Techniques](#)

A203. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**].

Disclosures that May Be Significant

A204. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**].

[Classes of Transactions, Account Balances and Disclosures that Are Not Significant, but Which Are Material](#)

[A204A](#). [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**].

[A204B](#). [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**].

...

Assessing Risks of Material Misstatement at the Assertion Level

Assessing Inherent Risk (Ref: Para. 31–33)

Assessing the likelihood and magnitude of misstatement (Ref: Para: 31)

Why the auditor assesses likelihood and magnitude of misstatement

A206. Assessing the inherent risk of identified risks of material misstatement also assists the auditor in determining significant risks. The auditor determines significant risks because specific responses to significant risks are required in accordance with [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#) and other ISAs.

...

A218. The determination of significant risks allows for the auditor to focus more attention on those risks that are on the upper end of the spectrum of inherent risk, through the performance of certain required responses, including:

⁵⁶ [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#), paragraph 5

- Controls that address significant risks are required to be identified in accordance with paragraph 26(a)(i), with a requirement to evaluate whether the control has been designed effectively and implemented in accordance with paragraph 26(d).
- Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) requires controls that address significant risks to be tested in the current period (when the auditor ~~intends plans~~ to ~~rely on~~ test the operating effectiveness of such controls) and substantive procedures to be planned and performed that are specifically responsive to the identified significant risk.⁵⁷
- Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) requires the auditor to plan to obtain more persuasive audit evidence the higher the auditor's assessment of inherent risk on the spectrum of inherent risk.⁵⁸
- ...

...

A222. Due to the nature of a risk of material misstatement, and the control activities that address that risk, in some circumstances the only way to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence is to test the operating effectiveness of controls. Accordingly, there is a requirement for the auditor to identify any such risks because of the implications for the design and performance of further audit procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) to address risks of material misstatement at the assertion level.

A223. Paragraph 26(a)(iii) also requires the identification of controls that address risks for which substantive procedures alone cannot provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence because the auditor is required, in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),⁵⁹ to design and perform tests of such controls.

Determining risks for which substantive procedures alone do not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence

A224. Where routine business transactions are subject to highly automated processing with little or no manual intervention, it may not be possible to perform only substantive procedures in relation to the risk. This may be the case in circumstances where a significant amount of an entity's information is initiated, recorded, processed, or reported only in ~~electronic-digital~~ form such as in an information system that involves a high degree of integration across its IT applications. In such cases:

- Audit evidence may be available only in ~~electronic-digital~~ form, and its sufficiency and appropriateness usually depend on the effectiveness of controls over its accuracy and completeness.
- The potential for improper initiation or alteration of information to occur and not be detected may be greater if appropriate controls are not operating effectively.

Example:

It is typically not possible to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence relating to revenue for a telecommunications entity based on substantive procedures alone. This is because the evidence

⁵⁷ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs ~~45-11A~~ and 21

⁵⁸ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 7(~~cb~~)

⁵⁹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 8

of call or data activity does not exist in a form that is observable. Instead, substantial controls testing is typically performed to determine that the origination and completion of calls, and data activity is correctly captured (e.g., minutes of a call or volume of a download) and recorded correctly in the entity's billing system.

...

A226. The auditor's plans to test the operating effectiveness of controls is based on the expectation that controls are operating effectively, and this will form the basis of the auditor's assessment of control risk. The initial expectation of the operating effectiveness of controls is based on the auditor's evaluation of the design, and the determination of implementation, of the identified controls in the control activities component. Once the auditor has tested the operating effectiveness of the controls in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), the auditor will be able to confirm the initial expectation about the operating effectiveness of controls. If the controls are not operating effectively as expected, then the auditor will need to revise the control risk assessment in accordance with paragraph 37.

...

A229. When the auditor plans to test the operating effectiveness of an automated control, the auditor may also plan to test the operating effectiveness of the relevant general IT controls that support the continued functioning of that automated control to address the risks arising from the use of IT, and to provide a basis for the auditor's expectation that the automated control operated effectively throughout the period. When the auditor expects related general IT controls to be ineffective, this determination may affect the auditor's assessment of control risk at the assertion level. Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) requires the auditor to perform other procedures and the auditor's further audit procedures may need to include substantive procedures to address the applicable risks arising from the use of IT. Further guidance about the procedures that the auditor may perform in these circumstances is provided in Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).⁶⁰

Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained from the Risk Assessment Procedures (Ref: Para 35)

Why the Auditor Evaluates the Audit Evidence from the Risk Assessment Procedures

A230. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7-E**].

Professional Skepticism

A230A. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7-E**].

The Evaluation of the Audit Evidence

A230B. –A231. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7-E**].

Professional Skepticism

A232. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7-E**].

Classes of Transactions, Account Balances and Disclosures that Are Not Significant, but Which Are Material (Ref: Para. 36)

A236. –A236A. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7-E**].

⁶⁰ Proposed ISA 500330 (Revised), paragraph A510(b)

Revision of Risk Assessment (Ref: Para. 37)

A236.—A236A. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**].

...

Documentation

...

A238. ISA 230 notes that, among other considerations, although there may be no single way in which the auditor's exercise of professional skepticism is documented, the audit documentation may nevertheless provide evidence of the auditor's exercise of professional skepticism. For example, when the audit evidence obtained from risk assessment procedures includes evidence that both corroborates and contradicts the assertions made by management's assertions, the documentation may include how the auditor evaluated that evidence, including the professional judgments made in evaluating whether the audit evidence provides an appropriate basis for the auditor's identification and assessment of the risks of material misstatement. Examples of other requirements in this ISA for which documentation may provide evidence of the exercise of professional skepticism by the auditor include:

- ...
- Paragraph 35, which requires the auditor to take into account all audit evidence obtained from the risk assessment procedures, whether—including audit evidence that is consistent or inconsistent with other audit evidence, and regardless of whether it appears to corroborate corroborative or contradictory to the assertions made by management, and to evaluate whether the audit evidence obtained from the risk assessment procedures provides an appropriate basis for the identification and assessment of the risks of material misstatement; and
- Paragraph 36, which requires the auditor to evaluate, when applicable, whether the auditor's determination that there are no risks of material misstatement for a material class of transactions, account balance or disclosure remains appropriate.

A238A. [Refer to **Agenda Item 7–E**]

...

Appendix 3

(Ref: Para. 12(m), 21–26, A90–A181)

Understanding the Entity's System of Internal Control

...

18. Communication, which involves providing an understanding of individual roles and responsibilities pertaining to the entity's system of internal control, may take such forms as policy manuals, accounting and financial reporting manuals, and memoranda. Communication also can be made electronically in digital form, orally, and through the actions of management.

...

ISA 320, MATERIALITY IN PLANNING AND PERFORMING AN AUDIT

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Materiality and Audit Risk (Ref: Para. 5)

- A1. In conducting an audit of financial statements, the overall objectives of the auditor are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, thereby enabling the auditor to express an opinion on whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial reporting framework; and to report on the financial statements, and communicate as required by the ISAs, in accordance with the auditor's findings. The auditor obtains reasonable assurance by obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level. Audit risk is the risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate audit opinion when the financial statements are materially misstated. Audit risk is a function of the risks of material misstatement and detection risk. Materiality and audit risk are considered throughout the audit, in particular, when:
- (a) Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement;
 - (b) Determining the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures;⁶¹ and
 - (c) Evaluating the effect of uncorrected misstatements, if any, on the financial statements and in forming the opinion in the auditor's report.

ISA 402, AUDIT CONSIDERATIONS RELATING TO AN ENTITY USING A SERVICE ORGANIZATION

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the user auditor's responsibility to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence when a user entity uses the services of one or more service organizations. Specifically, it expands on how the user auditor applies ISA 315 (Revised 2019)⁶² and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised)⁶³ in obtaining an understanding of the user entity, including the entity's system of internal control relevant to the preparation of the financial statements, sufficient to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement and in designing and performing further audit procedures responsive to those risks.

...

Responding to the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement

15. In responding to assessed risks in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), the user auditor shall:

⁶¹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

⁶² ISA 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*

⁶³ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

- (a) Determine whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence concerning the relevant financial statement assertions is available from records held at the user entity; and, if not,
 - (b) Perform further audit procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence or use another auditor to perform those procedures at the service organization on the user auditor's behalf.
- (Ref: Para. A24–A28)

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

Responding to the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement

...

A25. When the service organization maintains material elements of the accounting records of the user entity, direct access to those records may be necessary in order for the user auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence relating to the operations of controls over those records or to substantiate transactions and balances recorded in them, or both. Such access may involve either physical inspection of records at the service organization's premises or interrogation of records maintained electronically in digital form, from the user entity or another location, or both. Where direct access is achieved electronically, the user auditor may thereby obtain evidence as to the adequacy of controls operated by the service organization over the completeness and integrity of the user entity's data for which the service organization is responsible.

...

Test of Controls

A29. The user auditor is required by Proposed ISA 330 (Revised)⁶⁴ to design and perform tests of controls ~~to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to the operating effectiveness of controls~~ in certain circumstances. In the context of a service organization, this requirement applies when:

- (a) The user auditor's assessment of risks of material misstatement includes an expectation that the controls at the service organization are operating effectively ~~(that is, the user auditor intends to rely on the operating effectiveness of controls at the service organization in determining the nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures)~~; or
- (b) Substantive procedures alone, or in combination with tests of the operating effectiveness of controls at the user entity, cannot provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence at the assertion level.

...

A32. For certain assertions, the shorter the period covered by a specific test and the longer the time elapsed since the performance of the test, the less relevant audit evidence the test may provide. In comparing the period covered by the type 2 report to the user entity's financial reporting period, the user auditor may conclude that the type 2 report offers less relevant audit evidence if there is little overlap between the period covered by the type 2 report and the period for which the user auditor intends to rely on the report. When this is the case, a type 2 report covering a preceding or

⁶⁴ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 8

subsequent period may provide additional audit evidence. In other cases, the user auditor may determine it is necessary to perform, or use another auditor to perform, tests of controls at the service organization in order to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the operating effectiveness of those controls.

A33. It may also be necessary for the user auditor to obtain additional evidence about significant changes to the controls at the service organization outside of the period covered by the type 2 report or determine additional audit procedures to be performed. Relevant factors in determining what additional audit evidence to obtain about controls at the service organization that were operating outside of the period covered by the service auditor's report may include:

- The significance of the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level;
- The specific controls that were tested during the interim period, and significant changes to them since they were tested, including changes in the information system, processes, and personnel;
- The degree to which audit evidence about the operating effectiveness of those controls was obtained;
- The length of the remaining period;
- The extent to which the user auditor intends to reduce further substantive procedures based on the reliance on audit evidence obtained about the operating effectiveness of -controls; and
- The effectiveness of the control environment and the user entity's process to monitor the system of internal control.

ISA 501, AUDIT EVIDENCE—SPECIFIC CONSIDERATIONS FOR SELECTED ITEMS

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with specific considerations by the auditor in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),⁶⁵ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised),⁶⁶ and other relevant ISAs, with respect to certain aspects of inventory, litigation and claims involving the entity, and segment information in an audit of financial statements.

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

Observe the Performance of Management's Count Procedures (Ref: Para. 4(a)(ii))

- A5. Observing the performance of management's count procedures, for example, those relating to control over the movement of inventory before, during and after the count, assists the auditor in obtaining audit evidence that management's instructions and count procedures are adequately designed and implemented. The auditor may also use remote observation tools (e.g., use of live video,

⁶⁵ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

⁶⁶ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*

screensharing or video footage from a drone). In addition, the auditor may obtain copies of cutoff information, such as details of the movement of inventory, to assist the auditor in performing audit procedures over the accounting for such movements at a later date.

...

Physical Inventory Counting Conducted Other than at the Date of the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 5)

A9. For practical reasons, the physical inventory counting may be conducted at a date, or dates, other than the date of the financial statements. This may be done irrespective of whether management determines inventory quantities by an annual physical inventory counting or maintains a perpetual inventory system. In either case, the effectiveness of the design, implementation and maintenance of controls over changes in inventory determines whether the conduct of physical inventory counting at a date, or dates, other than the date of the financial statements is appropriate for audit purposes. Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) establishes requirements and provides guidance on substantive procedures performed at an interim date.⁶⁷

...

A18. In addition to the procedures identified in paragraph 9, other relevant procedures include, for example, using information-audit evidence obtained through risk assessment procedures carried out as part of obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment to assist the auditor to become aware of litigation and claims involving the entity.

ISA 505, EXTERNAL CONFIRMATIONS

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's use of external confirmation procedures to obtain audit evidence in accordance with the requirements of Proposed ISA 330 (Revised)⁶⁸ and Proposed ISA 500 (Revised).⁶⁹ It does not address inquiries regarding litigation and claims, which are dealt with in ISA 501.⁷⁰

External Confirmation Procedures to Obtain Audit Evidence

2. Proposed ISA 500 (Revised) indicates that the reliability-appropriateness of audit evidence refers to the quality of audit evidence—is influenced by its source and by its nature, and is dependent on the individual circumstances under which it is obtained.⁷¹ The quality of audit evidence depends on the relevance and reliability of the information intended to be used as audit evidence as well as the effectiveness of the design of the audit procedures and the auditor's application of those audit procedures.⁷² Depending on the circumstances of the audit, audit evidence in the form of external confirmations received directly by the auditor from confirming parties may be more appropriate than

⁶⁷ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 22–23

⁶⁸ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

⁶⁹ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*

⁷⁰ ISA 501, *Audit Evidence—Specific Considerations for Selected Items*

⁷¹ ISA 500, paragraph A9

⁷² Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph A13

~~evidence generated internally by the entity. That ISA also includes the following generalizations applicable to audit evidence:~~⁷³

- ~~• Audit evidence is more reliable when it is obtained from independent sources outside the entity.~~
- ~~• Audit evidence obtained directly by the auditor is more reliable than audit evidence obtained indirectly or by inference.~~
- ~~• Audit evidence is more reliable when it exists in documentary form, whether paper, electronic or other medium.~~

~~Accordingly, depending on the circumstances of the audit, audit evidence in the form of external confirmations received directly by the auditor from confirming parties may be more reliable than evidence generated internally by the entity. This ISA is intended to assist the auditor in designing and performing external confirmation procedures to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence.~~

3. Other ISAs recognize the importance of external confirmations as audit evidence, for example:

- Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) discusses the auditor's responsibility to design and implement overall responses to address the assessed risks of material misstatement at the financial statement level, and to design and perform further audit procedures whose nature, timing and extent are based on, and are responsive to, the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level.⁷⁴ ~~In addition, ISA 330 requires that, irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, the auditor designs and performs substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance, and disclosure.~~ The auditor is also required to consider whether external confirmation procedures are to be performed as substantive audit procedures.⁷⁵
- Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) requires that the auditor plan to obtain more persuasive audit evidence the higher the auditor's assessment of inherent risk is on the spectrum of inherent risk.⁷⁶ To do this, the auditor may increase the quantity of the evidence or obtain evidence that is of higher quality, by altering the nature, timing and extent of procedures performed to address the assessed risk of material misstatement more relevant or reliable, or both. For example, the auditor may place more emphasis on obtaining evidence directly from third parties or obtaining corroborating evidence from a number of independent sources. Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) also indicates that external confirmation procedures may assist the auditor in obtaining audit evidence with the high level of reliability that the auditor requires to respond to significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.⁷⁷
- ISA 240 (Revised) indicates that the auditor may design external confirmation procedures to obtain audit evidence as a response to address the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud at the assertion level.⁷⁸

⁷³ ~~ISA 500, paragraph A35~~

⁷⁴ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 5–6

⁷⁵ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs ~~18~~–19

⁷⁶ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 7(~~bc~~)

⁷⁷ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph A55

⁷⁸ ISA 240 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Financial Statements*, paragraphs A129-A135

- Proposed ISA 500 (Revised) indicates that corroborating information obtained from a source independent of the entity, such as through inspection or external confirmations, may provide more persuasive audit evidence than through inquiry~~increase the assurance the auditor obtains from evidence existing within the accounting records or from representations made by management.~~⁷⁹

...

Definitions

6. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

- (a) External confirmation – Audit evidence obtained as a direct written response to the auditor from a third party (the confirming party), in paper form, or by electronic-digital or other medium.
- (b) ...

Evaluating the Results of the External Confirmation Procedures~~Evidence Obtained~~

16. The auditor shall evaluate ~~whether~~ the results of the external confirmation procedures provide relevant and reliable audit evidence, or and determine whether further audit evidence is necessary.
(Ref: Para A24–A25)

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

Designing Confirmation Requests (Ref: Para. 7(c))

...

A4. Factors to consider when designing confirmation requests include:

- ...
- The method of communication (for example, in paper form, or by electronic-digital or other medium).
- ...

...

A11. Proposed ISA 500 (Revised) indicates that the source of information may affect the auditor's professional judgment regarding the attributes of reliability that are of significance in the circumstances to meet the intended purpose(s) of the audit procedures, and the nature and extent of the auditor's evaluation of the reliability of the information~~even when audit evidence is obtained from sources external to the entity, circumstances may exist that affect its reliability.~~⁸⁰ All responses carry some risk of interception, alteration or fraud. Such risk exists regardless of whether a response is

⁷⁹ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraphs A14C12–A13

⁸⁰ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph A35A50

obtained in paper form, or by ~~electronic-digital~~ or other medium. Factors that may indicate doubts about the reliability of a response include that it:

- Was received by the auditor indirectly; or
- Appeared not to come from the originally intended confirming party.

A12. Responses received ~~electronically in digital form~~, for example, by facsimile or ~~electronic-e-mail~~, involve risks as to reliability because proof of origin and authority of the respondent may be difficult to establish, and alterations may be difficult to detect. A process used by the auditor and the respondent that creates a secure environment for responses received ~~electronically in digital form~~ may mitigate these risks. If the auditor is satisfied that such a process is secure and properly controlled, the reliability of the related responses is enhanced. An electronic confirmation process might incorporate various techniques for validating the identity of a sender of information in ~~electronic digital~~ form, for example, through the use of encryption, electronic digital signatures, and procedures to verify web site authenticity.

...

A14. The auditor is required by Proposed ISA 500 (Revised) to determine ~~whether—what to modify/modifications~~ or add~~itions to audit~~ procedures are necessary to resolve doubts ~~ever-about~~ the reliability of information intended to be used as audit evidence.⁸¹ The auditor may choose to verify the source and contents of a response to a confirmation request by contacting the confirming party. For example, when a confirming party responds by ~~electronic-e-mail~~, the auditor may telephone the confirming party to determine whether the confirming party did, in fact, send the response. When a response has been returned to the auditor indirectly (for example, because the confirming party incorrectly addressed it to the entity rather than to the auditor), the auditor may request the confirming party to respond in writing directly to the auditor.

...

A25. The auditor's evaluation, when taken into account with other audit procedures the auditor may have performed, may assist the auditor in concluding whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained or whether further audit evidence is necessary, as required by Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).⁸²

ISA 510, INITIAL AUDIT ENGAGEMENTS—OPENING BALANCES

...

Appendix

(Ref: Para. A8)

Illustrations of Auditors' Reports with Modified Opinions

Illustration 1:

⁸¹ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph ~~412(b)~~

⁸² Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs ~~2625A~~–27

...

Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as “Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”]

[Reporting in accordance with the reporting requirements in ISA 720 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in Appendix 2 of ISA 720 (Revised).]

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 2

...

Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as “Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”]

[Reporting in accordance with the reporting requirements in ISA 720 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in Appendix 2 of ISA 720 (Revised).]

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

ISA 530, AUDIT SAMPLING

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) applies when the auditor has decided to use audit sampling in performing audit procedures. It deals with the auditor's use of statistical and non-statistical sampling when designing and selecting the audit sample, performing tests of controls and tests of details, and evaluating the results from the sample.
2. This ISA complements [Proposed ISA 500 \(Revised\)](#),⁸³ which deals with the auditor's responsibility to design and perform audit procedures [that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence to be able to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the auditor's opinion, including procedures to evaluate the relevance and reliability of information intended to be used as audit evidence](#). [Proposed ISA 500 \(Revised\)](#) provides guidance on the means available to the auditor for selecting items for testing, of which audit sampling is one means.

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

- A5. When designing an audit sample, the auditor's consideration includes the specific purpose to be achieved and the combination of audit procedures that is likely to best achieve that purpose. Consideration of the nature of the audit evidence sought and possible deviation or misstatement conditions or other characteristics relating to that audit evidence will assist the auditor in defining what constitutes a deviation or misstatement and what population to use for sampling. In fulfilling the requirement of paragraph 9 of [Proposed ISA 500 \(Revised\)](#), when performing audit sampling, the auditor performs audit procedures to obtain evidence that the population from which the audit sample is drawn is complete.

...

- A20. For tests of controls, no explicit projection of deviations is necessary since the sample deviation rate is also the projected deviation rate for the population as a whole. [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#)⁸⁴ provides guidance when deviations from controls upon which the auditor intends to rely are detected.

...

- A36. Examples of substantive audit procedures that the auditor may perform relating to newly identified related parties or significant related party transactions include:
- Making inquiries regarding the nature of the entity's relationships with the newly identified related parties, including (where appropriate and not prohibited by law, regulation or ethical

⁸³ [Proposed ISA 500 \(Revised\)](#), *Audit Evidence*

⁸⁴ [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*, paragraph 17

rules) inquiring of parties outside the entity who are presumed to have significant knowledge of the entity and its business, such as legal counsel, principal agents, major representatives, consultants, guarantors, or other close business partners.

- Conducting an analysis of accounting records for transactions with the newly identified related parties. Such an analysis may be facilitated using ~~computer-assisted—audit technique~~technological tools.
- Verifying the terms and conditions of the newly identified related party transactions, and evaluating whether the transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

...

Appendix 4

(Ref: Para. A13)

Sample Selection Methods

...

(e) Block selection...

The application of any one or a combination of the methods in paragraphs (a) to (e) may be appropriate depending on the circumstances. The auditor may also use technological tools to identify and select items for testing.

ISA 540 (REVISED), AUDITING ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND RELATED DISCLOSURES

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibilities relating to accounting estimates and related disclosures in an audit of financial statements. Specifically, it includes requirements and guidance that refer to, or expand on, how ISA 315 (Revised 2019),⁸⁵ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),⁸⁶ ISA 450,⁸⁷ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised)⁸⁸ and other relevant ISAs are to be applied in relation to accounting estimates and related disclosures. It also includes requirements and guidance on the evaluation of misstatements of accounting estimates and related disclosures, and indicators of possible management bias.

...

⁸⁵ ISA 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*

⁸⁶ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

⁸⁷ ISA 450, *Evaluation of Misstatements Identified during the Audit*

⁸⁸ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*

5. This ISA refers to relevant requirements in ISA 315 (Revised 2019) and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), and provides related guidance, to emphasize the importance of the auditor's decisions about controls relating to accounting estimates, including decisions about whether:
- There are controls required to be identified by ISA 315 (Revised 2019), for which the auditor is required to evaluate their design and determine whether they have been implemented.
 - To test-obtain audit evidence about the operating effectiveness of relevant controls.
6. ISA 315 (Revised 2019) also requires a separate assessment of control risk when assessing the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level. In assessing control risk, the auditor takes into account whether the auditor's further audit procedures contemplate planned reliance on audit evidence about the operating effectiveness of controls. If the auditor does not plan to test the operating effectiveness of controls as part of the further audit procedures, or does not intend to rely on the operating effectiveness of controls, the auditor's assessment of control risk is such that the assessment of the risk of material misstatement is the same as the assessment of inherent risk. (Ref: Para. A10)
7. This ISA emphasizes that the auditor's further audit procedures (including, where appropriate, tests of controls) need to be responsive to the reasons for the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level, taking into account the effect of one or more inherent risk factors considering the assessment of inherent risk and the reasons for the assessment, and the auditor's assessment of control risk.
- ...
18. As required by Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),⁸⁹ the auditor's further audit procedures shall be responsive to the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level,⁹⁰ considering:
- The assessment of inherent risk and the reasons for the assessment; and
 - The assessment of control risk ~~the reasons for the assessment given to those risks.~~

The auditor's further audit procedures shall include one or more of the following approaches:

- (a) Obtaining audit evidence from events occurring up to the date of the auditor's report (see paragraph 21);
- (b) Testing how management made the accounting estimate (see paragraphs 22–27); or
- (c) Developing an auditor's point estimate or range (see paragraphs 28–29).

The auditor's further audit procedures shall take into account that the higher the assessed inherent risk is on the spectrum of inherent risk of material misstatement, the more persuasive the audit evidence needs to be.⁹¹ The auditor shall design and perform further audit procedures in a manner that is not biased towards obtaining audit evidence that may be corroborative or towards excluding audit evidence that may be contradictory. (Ref: Para. A81–A84)

⁸⁹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 6–~~15~~ 14 and 18

⁹⁰ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 6–7 and 21

⁹¹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 7(~~bc~~)

19. As required by Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),⁹² the auditor shall design and perform tests to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to the operating effectiveness of controls, if:

- (a) The auditor's assessment of risks of material misstatement at the assertion level includes an expectation that the controls are operating effectively; or
- (b) Substantive procedures alone cannot provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence at the assertion level.

In relation to accounting estimates, the auditor's tests of such controls shall be responsive to ~~the reasons for~~ the assessment ~~given to the risks of material misstatement of control risk~~. In designing and performing tests of controls, the auditor shall obtain more persuasive audit evidence about the operating effectiveness of controls the greater the reliance the auditor places on ~~the effectiveness of a control~~ such evidence in responding to an assessed risk of material misstatement at the assertion level.⁹³ (Ref: Para. A85–A89)

20. For a significant risk relating to an accounting estimate, the auditor's further audit procedures shall include tests of controls in the current period if the auditor plans to ~~rely on~~ test those controls. When the approach to a significant risk consists only of substantive procedures, those procedures shall include tests of details.⁹⁴ (Ref: Para. A90)

...

Other Considerations Relating to Audit Evidence

30. In obtaining audit evidence regarding the risks of material misstatement relating to accounting estimates, irrespective of the sources of information to be used as audit evidence, the auditor shall comply with the relevant requirements in Proposed ISA 500 (Revised).

When using the work of a management's expert, the requirements in paragraphs 21–29 of this ISA may assist the auditor in evaluating the appropriateness of the expert's work as audit evidence for a relevant assertion in accordance with paragraph ~~8(e)~~ 11(d) of Proposed ISA 500 (Revised). In evaluating the work of the management's expert, the nature, timing and extent of the further audit procedures are affected by the auditor's evaluation of the expert's competence, capabilities and objectivity, the auditor's understanding of the nature of the work performed by the expert, the auditor's understanding of how the information prepared by the expert has been used by management in making the accounting estimates included in the financial statement, and the auditor's familiarity with the expert's field of expertise. (Ref: Para. A126–A132)

...

Overall Evaluation Based on Audit Procedures Performed

33. In applying Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) to accounting estimates,⁹⁵ the auditor shall evaluate, based on the audit procedures performed and audit evidence obtained, whether: (Ref: Para A137–A138)

⁹² Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 8

⁹³ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 9

⁹⁴ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs ~~15–11A~~ and 21

⁹⁵ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 25–~~26~~ 25A

- (a) The assessments of the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level remain appropriate, including when indicators of possible management bias have been identified;
 - (b) Management's decisions relating to the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of these accounting estimates in the financial statements are in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework; and
 - (c) ~~Sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained~~The audit evidence obtained from the further audit procedures is sufficient and appropriate in responding to the assessed risks of material misstatement.
34. In making the evaluation required by paragraph 33(c), the auditor shall consider all audit evidence obtained from further audit procedures, including audit evidence that is consistent or inconsistent with other audit evidence, and regardless of whether it appears to corroborate or contradict the assertions made by management in the financial statements.~~take into account all relevant audit evidence obtained, whether corroborative or contradictory.~~⁹⁶ If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor shall evaluate the implications for the audit or the auditor's opinion on the financial statements in accordance with ISA 705 (Revised).⁹⁷

...

Documentation

39. The auditor shall include in the audit documentation:⁹⁸ (Ref: Para. A149–A152)
- (a) Key elements of the auditor's understanding of the entity and its environment, including the entity's internal control related to the entity's accounting estimates;
 - (b) The linkage of the auditor's further audit procedures with the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level;⁹⁹ considering the assessment of inherent risk and the reasons for the assessment, and the assessment of control risk taking into account the reasons~~(whether related to inherent risk or control risk) given to the assessment of those risks;~~
 - (c) The auditor's response(s) when management has not taken appropriate steps to understand and address estimation uncertainty;
 - (d) Indicators of possible management bias related to accounting estimates, if any, and the auditor's evaluation of the implications for the audit, as required by paragraph 32; and
 - (e) Significant judgments relating to the auditor's determination of whether the accounting estimates and related disclosures are reasonable in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework, or are misstated.

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

⁹⁶ ~~Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 25~~ISA 500, paragraph 11

⁹⁷ ISA 705 (Revised), *Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report*

⁹⁸ ISA 230, *Audit Documentation*, paragraphs 8–11, A6, A7 and A10

⁹⁹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 28(b)

Key Concepts of This ISA

...

Control Risk (Ref: Para. 6)

A10. In assessing control risk at the assertion level in accordance with ISA 315 (Revised 2019), the auditor takes into account whether the auditor plans to test the operating effectiveness of controls as part of the further audit procedures. When the auditor is considering whether to test the operating effectiveness of controls, the auditor's evaluation that controls are effectively designed and have been implemented supports an expectation, by the auditor, about the operating effectiveness of the controls in establishing the plan to test them.

...

Management's application of specialized skills or knowledge, including the use of management's experts (Ref: Para. 13(f))

A31. The auditor may consider whether the following circumstances increase the likelihood that management needs to engage an expert:¹⁰⁰

- The specialized nature of the matter requiring estimation, for example, the accounting estimate may involve measurement of mineral or hydrocarbon reserves in extractive industries or the evaluation of the likely outcome of applying complex contractual terms.
- The complex nature of the models required to apply the relevant requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework, as may be the case in certain measurements, such as level 3 fair values.
- The unusual or infrequent nature of the condition, transaction or event requiring an accounting estimate.

...

Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement (Ref: Para. 4, 16)

...

A65. Paragraph A44 of ISA 200 states that the ISAs typically refer to the "risks of material misstatement" rather than to inherent risk and control risk separately. ISA 315 (Revised 2019) requires a separate assessment of inherent risk and control risk to provide a basis for designing and performing further audit procedures to respond to the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level, including significant risks, in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).

...

A71. The auditor's assessment of control risk may be done in different ways depending on preferred audit techniques or methodologies. The control risk assessment may be expressed using qualitative categories (for example, control risk assessed as maximum, moderate, minimum) or in terms of the auditor's expectation of how effective the control(s) is in addressing the identified risk, ~~that is, the planned reliance on the effective operation of controls~~. For example, if control risk is assessed as maximum, the auditor does not plan to test the operating effectiveness ~~contemplates no reliance on~~

¹⁰⁰ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph 811

~~the effective operation~~ of controls. If control risk is assessed at less than maximum, the auditor ~~contemplates reliance on the effective operation~~ plans to test the operating effectiveness of controls.

...

Responses to the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement

...

Obtaining Relevant and Reliable Audit Evidence Whether Corroborative or Contradictory

A82. Audit evidence comprises ~~both information~~ evidence that supports and corroborates management's assertions, and ~~any information~~ evidence that contradicts such assertions.¹⁰¹ Obtaining audit evidence in an unbiased manner may involve obtaining evidence from multiple sources within and outside the entity. However, the auditor is not required to perform an exhaustive search to identify all possible sources of audit evidence.

A83. Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) requires the auditor to plan to obtain more persuasive audit evidence the higher the auditor's assessment of the inherent risk is on the spectrum of inherent risk.¹⁰² Therefore, the consideration of the nature or quantity of the audit evidence may be more important when inherent risks relating to an accounting estimate is assessed at the higher end of the spectrum of inherent risk.

Scalability

A84. The nature, timing and extent of the auditor's further audit procedures are affected by, for example:

- The assessed risks of material misstatement, which affect the persuasiveness of the audit evidence needed and influence the approach the auditor selects to audit an accounting estimate. For example, the assessed risks of material misstatement relating to the existence or valuation assertions may be lower for a straightforward accrual for bonuses that are paid to employees shortly after period end. In this situation, it may be more practical for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence by evaluating events occurring up to the date of the auditor's report, rather than through other testing approaches.
- ~~The reasons for the assessed risks of material misstatement~~ assessment of inherent risk and the reasons for the assessment.
- The assessment of control risk.

When the Auditor Intends to ~~Rely on~~ Test the Operating Effectiveness of Controls (Ref: Para: 19)

A85. ~~Testing~~ Obtaining audit evidence about the operating effectiveness of controls may be appropriate when inherent risk is assessed as higher on the spectrum of inherent risk, including for significant risks. This may be the case when the accounting estimate is subject to or affected by a high degree of complexity. When the accounting estimate is affected by a high degree of subjectivity, and therefore requires significant judgment by management, inherent limitations in the effectiveness of the design of controls may lead the auditor to focus more on substantive procedures than on testing the operating effectiveness of controls.

...

¹⁰¹ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraphs ~~A5A~~ A12A–A12C

¹⁰² Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 7(~~b~~c) and A19 – A19Ab

A88. Circumstances when risks for which substantive procedures alone cannot provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence at the assertion level may exist include:

- When controls are necessary to mitigate risks relating to the initiation, recording, processing, or reporting of information obtained from outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers.
- Information supporting one or more assertions is ~~electronically~~-initiated, recorded, processed, or reported in digital form. This is likely to be the case when there is a high volume of transactions or data, or a complex model is used, requiring the extensive use of information technology to ensure the accuracy and completeness of the information. A complex expected credit loss provision may be required for a financial institution or utility entity. For example, in the case of a utility entity, the data used in developing the expected credit loss provision may comprise many small balances resulting from a high volume of transactions. In these circumstances, the auditor may conclude that sufficient appropriate audit evidence cannot be obtained without testing controls around the model used to develop the expected credit loss provision.

In such cases, the sufficiency and appropriateness of the audit evidence may depend on the effectiveness of controls over the accuracy and completeness of the information.

...

Significant Risks (Ref: Para. 20)

A90. When the auditor's further audit procedures in response to a significant risk consist only of substantive procedures, Proposed ISA 330 (Revised)¹⁰³ requires that those procedures include tests of details. Such tests of details may be designed and performed under each of the approaches described in paragraph 18 of this ISA based on the auditor's professional judgment in the circumstances. Examples of tests of details for significant risks related to accounting estimates include:

- Examination, for example, examining contracts to corroborate terms or assumptions.
- Recalculation, for example, verifying the mathematical accuracy of a model.
- Agreeing assumptions used to supporting documentation, such as third-party published information.

...

Relevance and reliability of the data (Ref: Para. 25(c))

A107. ~~When using information produced by the entity, Proposed~~ ISA 500 (Revised) requires the auditor to evaluate ~~whether the information is sufficiently reliable for the auditor's purposes~~ the relevance and reliability of information intended to be used as audit evidence, by considering the source of the information and the attributes of reliability that are of significance in the circumstances to meet the intended purpose(s) of the audit procedures. When information intended to be used as audit evidence is from sources internal to the entity, the attributes of accuracy and completeness ordinarily are of significance to meet the intended purpose(s) of the audit procedures, including as necessary in the

¹⁰³ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 21

~~circumstances, to obtain audit evidence about the accuracy and completeness of the information and evaluating whether the information is sufficiently precise and detailed for the auditor's purposes.~~¹⁰⁴

...

External Information Sources

A127. As explained in Proposed ISA 500 (Revised),¹⁰⁵ the source of the information intended to be used as audit evidence may affect the auditor's professional judgment regarding the relevance and the attributes of reliability that are of significance in the circumstances to meet the intended purpose(s) of the audit procedures, and the nature and extent of the auditor's evaluation of the relevance and reliability of the information~~reliability of information from an external information source is influenced by its source, its nature, and the circumstances under which it is obtained. Consequently, the nature and extent of the auditor's further audit procedures to consider the reliability of the information used in making an accounting estimate may vary depending on the nature of these factors.~~ For example:

- When market or industry data, prices, or pricing related data, are obtained from a single external information source, specializing in such information, the auditor may seek a price from an alternative independent source with which to compare.
- When market or industry data, prices, or pricing related data, are obtained from multiple independent external information sources and points to consensus across those sources, the auditor may need to obtain less evidence about the reliability of the data from an individual source.
- When information obtained from multiple information sources points to divergent market views the auditor may seek to understand the reasons for the diversity in views. The diversity may result from the use of different methods, assumptions, or data. For example, one source may be using current prices and another source using future prices. When the diversity relates to estimation uncertainty, the auditor is required by paragraph 26(b) to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether, in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework, the disclosures in the financial statements that describe the estimation uncertainty are reasonable. In such cases professional judgment is also important in considering information about the methods, assumptions or data applied.
- When information obtained from an external information source has been developed by that source using its own model(s). ~~Paragraph A43 of ISA 500 provides relevant guidance.~~

...

A129. When information intended to be used as audit evidence is from an external information source ~~is used as audit evidence~~, a relevant consideration for the auditor may be whether information can be obtained, or whether the information is sufficiently detailed, to understand the methods, assumptions and other data used by the external information source. This may be limited in some respects and consequently influence the auditor's consideration of the nature, timing and extent of procedures to perform. For example, pricing services often provide information about their methods and assumptions by asset class rather than individual securities. Brokers often provide only limited information about their inputs and assumptions when providing broker indicative quotes for individual

¹⁰⁴ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph 9

¹⁰⁵ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), Paragraph ~~A35~~A50

securities. Paragraph ~~A44-A47A~~ of Proposed ISA 500 (Revised) provides guidance for circumstances in which the auditor may not have a sufficient basis to evaluate the relevance and reliability of information from an with respect to restrictions placed by the external information source on the provision of supporting information.

...

Management's Expert

...

A131. If the work of a management's expert involves the use of methods or sources of data relating to accounting estimates, or developing or providing findings or conclusions relating to a point estimate or related disclosures for inclusion in the financial statements, the requirements in paragraphs 21–29 of this ISA may assist the auditor in applying paragraph ~~8(e)11(d)~~ of Proposed ISA 500 (Revised).

...

Overall Evaluation Based on Audit Procedures Performed (Ref: Para. 33)

A137. As the auditor performs planned audit procedures, the audit evidence obtained may cause the auditor to modify the nature, timing or extent of other planned audit procedures.¹⁰⁶ In relation to accounting estimates, information may come to the auditor's attention through performing procedures to obtain audit evidence that differs significantly from the information on which the risk assessment was based. For example, the auditor may have identified that the only reason for an assessed risk of material misstatement is the subjectivity involved in making the accounting estimate. However, while performing procedures to respond to the assessed risks of material misstatement, the auditor may discover that the accounting estimate is more complex than originally contemplated, which may call into question the assessment of the risk of material misstatement (for example, the inherent risk may need to be re-assessed on the higher end of the spectrum of inherent risk due to the effect of complexity) and therefore the auditor may need to perform additional further audit procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.

...

Documentation (Ref: Para. 39)

A149. ISA 315 (Revised 2019)¹⁰⁷ and ISA 330¹⁰⁸ provide requirements and guidance on documenting the auditor's understanding of the entity, risk assessments and responses to assessed risks. This guidance is based on the requirements and guidance in ISA 230. In the context of auditing accounting estimates, the auditor is required to prepare audit documentation about key elements of the auditor's understanding of the entity and its environment related to accounting estimates. In addition, the auditor's judgments about the assessed risks of material misstatement related to accounting estimates, and the auditor's responses, may likely be further supported by documentation of communications with those charged with governance and management.

¹⁰⁶ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph A62

¹⁰⁷ ISA 315 (Revised), paragraphs 38 and A237–A241

¹⁰⁸ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 28 and A65

A150. In documenting the linkage of the auditor's further audit procedures with the assessed risks of material misstatement at the assertion level, in accordance with ISA 330,¹⁰⁹ this ISA requires that the auditor ~~take into account~~considers the assessment of inherent risk and the reasons for the assessment, and considers the assessment of control risk, given to the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level. Those reasons may relate to one or more inherent risk factors or the auditor's assessment of control risk. However, the auditor is not required to document how every inherent risk factor was taken into account in identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in relation to each accounting estimate.

...

A152. Paragraph A7 of ISA 230 notes that, although there may be no single way in which the auditor's exercise of professional skepticism is documented, the audit documentation may nevertheless provide evidence of the auditor's exercise of professional skepticism. For example, in relation to accounting estimates, when the audit evidence obtained includes evidence that both corroborates and contradicts management's assertions, the documentation may include how the auditor evaluated that evidence, including the professional judgments made in forming a conclusion as to whether sufficient the sufficiency and appropriateness of the audit evidence has been obtained. Examples of other requirements in this ISA for which documentation may provide evidence of the exercise of professional skepticism by the auditor include:

- Paragraph 13(d), regarding how the auditor has applied an understanding in developing the auditor's own expectation of the accounting estimates and related disclosures to be included in the entity's financial statements and how that expectation compares with the entity's financial statements prepared by management;
- Paragraph 18, which requires further audit procedures to be designed and performed to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence in a manner that is not biased toward obtaining audit evidence that may ~~be corroborative~~corroborate or towards excluding audit evidence that may ~~be contradictory~~assertions made by management;
- Paragraphs 23(b), 24(b), 25(b) and 32, which address indicators of possible management bias; and
- Paragraph 34, which addresses the auditor's consideration of all ~~relevant~~ audit evidence obtained from further audit procedures, including audit evidence that is consistent or inconsistent with other audit evidence, and regardless of whether it appears to corroborate or contradict the assertions made by management in the financial statements~~whether corroborative or contradictory.~~

...

Appendix 1

(Ref: Para. 2, 4, 12(c), A8, A66)

Inherent Risk Factors

...

¹⁰⁹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 7

Complexity

...

11. Complexity relating to data may arise, for example, in the following circumstances:

- (a) When data is difficult to obtain or when it relates to transactions that are not generally accessible. Even when such data is accessible, for example through an external information source, it may be difficult to ~~consider-evaluate~~ the relevance and reliability of the data, unless the external information source discloses adequate information about the underlying data sources it has used and about any data processing that has been performed.
- (b) When data reflecting an external information source's views about future conditions or events, which may be relevant in developing support for an assumption, is difficult to understand without transparency about the rationale and information taken into account in developing those views.
- (c) When certain types of data are inherently difficult to understand because they require an understanding of technically complex business or legal concepts, such as may be required to properly understand data that comprises the terms of legal agreements about transactions involving complex financial instruments or insurance products.

ISA 550, RELATED PARTIES

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibilities relating to related party relationships and transactions in an audit of financial statements. Specifically, it expands on how ISA 315 (Revised 2019),¹¹⁰ ~~Proposed~~ ISA 330 ~~(Revised)~~,¹¹¹ and ISA 240 (Revised)¹¹² are to be applied in relation to risks of material misstatement associated with related party relationships and transactions.

...

Responses to the Risks of Material Misstatement Associated with Related Party Relationships and Transactions

20. As part of the ~~Proposed~~ ISA 330 ~~(Revised)~~ requirement that the auditor respond to assessed risks,¹¹³ the auditor designs and performs further audit procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the assessed risks of material misstatement associated with related party relationships and transactions. These audit procedures shall include those required by paragraphs 21–24. (Ref: Para. A31–A34)

...

¹¹⁰ ISA 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*

¹¹¹ ~~Proposed~~ ISA 330 ~~(Revised)~~, *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

¹¹² ISA 240 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Financial Statements*

¹¹³ ~~Proposed~~ ISA 330 ~~(Revised)~~, paragraphs 5–6

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

A31. The nature, timing and extent of the further audit procedures that the auditor may select to respond to the assessed risks of material misstatement associated with related party relationships and transactions depend upon the nature of those risks and the circumstances of the entity.¹¹⁴

...

A34. Depending upon the results of the auditor's risk assessment procedures, the auditor may consider it appropriate to obtain audit evidence without testing the entity's controls over related party relationships and transactions. In some circumstances, however, it may not be possible to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence from substantive audit procedures alone in relation to the risks of material misstatement associated with related party relationships and transactions. For example, where intra-group transactions between the entity and its components are numerous and a significant amount of information regarding these transactions is initiated, recorded, processed or reported ~~electronically in digital form~~ in an integrated system, the auditor may determine that it is not possible to design effective substantive audit procedures that by themselves would reduce the risks of material misstatement associated with these transactions to an acceptably low level. In such a case, in meeting the Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) requirement to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to the operating effectiveness of controls,¹¹⁵ the auditor is required to test the entity's controls over the completeness and accuracy of the recording of the related party relationships and transactions.

...

Substantive Procedures Relating to Newly Identified Related Parties or Significant Related Party Transactions (Ref: Para. 22(c))

A36. Examples of substantive audit procedures that the auditor may perform relating to newly identified related parties or significant related party transactions include:

- Making inquiries regarding the nature of the entity's relationships with the newly identified related parties, including (where appropriate and not prohibited by law, regulation or ethical rules) inquiring of parties outside the entity who are presumed to have significant knowledge of the entity and its business, such as legal counsel, principal agents, major representatives, consultants, guarantors, or other close business partners.
- Conducting an analysis of accounting records for transactions with the newly identified related parties. Such an analysis may be facilitated using ~~computer-assisted—audit techniques~~technological tools.
- Verifying the terms and conditions of the newly identified related party transactions, and evaluating whether the transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

¹¹⁴ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised) provides further guidance on considering the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures. ISA 240 (Revised) establishes requirements and provides guidance on appropriate responses to assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

¹¹⁵ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 8(b)

...

A38. In evaluating the business rationale of a significant related party transaction outside the entity's normal course of business, the auditor may consider the following:

- Whether the transaction:
 - Is overly complex (for example, it may involve multiple related parties within a group).
 - Has unusual terms of trade, such as unusual prices, interest rates, guarantees and repayment terms.
 - Lacks an apparent logical business reason for its occurrence.
 - Involves previously unidentified related parties.
 - Is processed in an unusual manner.
- Whether management has discussed the nature of, and accounting for, such a transaction with those charged with governance.
- Whether management is placing more emphasis on a particular accounting treatment rather than giving due regard to the underlying economics of the transaction.
- If management's explanations are materially inconsistent with the terms of the related party transaction, the auditor is required, in accordance with Proposed ISA 500 (Revised),¹¹⁶ to ~~consider-evaluate~~ the reliability of management's explanations and representations on other significant matters.

...

Assertions That Related Party Transactions Were Conducted on Terms Equivalent to Those Prevailing in an Arm's Length Transaction (Ref: Para. 24)

...

A44. Evaluating management's support for this assertion may involve one or more of the following:

- Considering the appropriateness of management's process for supporting the assertion.
- Verifying the source of the internal or external data supporting the assertion, and evaluating the relevance and reliability of the data, including performing audit procedures relating to testing the data to determine their accuracy, and completeness-and-relevance.
- Evaluating the reasonableness of any significant assumptions on which the assertion is based.

ISA 570 (REVISED 2024), GOING CONCERN

Introduction

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

¹¹⁶ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*, paragraph 4112-14

- A13. The auditor may also use automated technological tools ~~and techniques~~ when designing and performing risk assessment procedures as required by paragraph 11.

Examples:

The auditor may use automated technological tools ~~and techniques~~ when:

- Performing analytical procedures to understand the trends of key financial ratios (e.g., the entity's key sources of earnings and their relationship to cash generation) or identify inconsistencies or unusual events.
- Applying predictive models to assess an entity's financial condition or to understand the impact of events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern (e.g., models for prediction of bankruptcy or insolvency).

Significant Assumptions (Ref: Para. 19(b))

- A42. Considerations for the auditor's evaluation regarding the significant assumptions on which management's assessment is based may include:

- ...

Example:

The use of automated technological tools ~~and techniques~~ may assist the auditor when performing sensitivity analysis of management's assessment of going concern to understand how outcomes are affected by changes in input variables such as discount or growth rates.

...

- A44. ~~When using information produced by the entity, Proposed~~ ISA 500 (Revised)¹¹⁷ requires the auditor to evaluate the relevance and reliability of whether the information intended to be used as audit evidence, by considering the source of the information and the attributes of reliability that are of significance in the circumstances to meet the intended purpose(s) of the audit procedures. When information intended to be used as audit evidence is from sources internal to the entity, the attributes of accuracy and completeness ordinarily are of significance to meet the intended purpose(s) of the audit procedures, is sufficiently reliable for the auditor's purposes, including as necessary in the circumstances, to obtain audit evidence about the accuracy and completeness of the information and evaluating whether the information is sufficiently precise and detailed for the auditor's purposes.

...

Scalability (Ref: Para. 19)

- A46. The nature and extent of the auditor's procedures may vary depending on the method, significant assumptions and data used by management to assess the entity's ability to continue as a going concern as well as the nature and circumstances of events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

¹¹⁷ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*, paragraph 9

Examples:

Method

-
- ...

Significant Assumptions

- ...
- ...

Data

- When management's assessment of going concern includes large volumes of data from multiple sources, there may be inherent complexity in evaluating the reliability of the data used and the auditor's procedures may employ ~~automated technological tools and techniques~~ to evaluate the reliability of the data used by management.

...

A61. In certain circumstances the auditor may consider requesting an external confirmation¹¹⁸ of the existence and terms of borrowing facilities between the entity and external finance providers.

Examples:

Requesting an external confirmation may be appropriate when:

- Borrowing facilities are being renewed in the assessment period.
- There are limited financial resources available to the entity beyond those required to continue its operations.
- The entity is dependent on borrowing facilities shortly due for renewal, for example within twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements.
- There is an indication that previous renewal of borrowing facilities was agreed with difficulty, or the lender has imposed additional conditions as a prerequisite for continued financing.
- There is a significant deterioration in projected cash flows.
- The value of assets granted as security for borrowing is declining.
- The entity has breached the terms of borrowing covenants, or there are indications of potential breaches.

...

Financial Support by Third Parties or Related Parties, Including the Entity's Owner-Manager

Intent (Ref: Para. 28)

¹¹⁸ ~~Proposed~~ ISA 330 ~~(Revised)~~, *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*, paragraph 19

A63. Where management's plans for future actions include financial support by third parties or related parties, including the entity's owner-manager, whether through the subordination of loans, commitments to maintain or provide additional funding, or guarantees, and such financial support is important to an entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the auditor may need to consider requesting written confirmation from such parties to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about their intent to provide the necessary financial support. Such written confirmation may be in paper form, or by electronic-digital or other medium¹¹⁹ and may include:

- Terms and conditions of the commitment from those parties.
- When applicable, the legality and enforceability of the commitments.
- The period or the specific date to which the parties intend to provide the financial support.

...

Implications for the Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 34–38)

...

A79. The statements required by paragraphs 34–36 represent the minimum information that is to be presented in the auditor's report in each of the circumstances described. The auditor may provide additional information to supplement the required statements, for example reference to where the respective responsibilities of those with responsibility for the financial statements and of the auditor in relation to going concern are described. ~~The~~ Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised) includes illustrative wording to be included in the auditor's report in relation to going concern to describe the respective responsibilities of those responsible for the financial statements and of the auditor.

...

Appendix

(Ref: Para. A78, A81, A89, A91–A92)

Illustrations of Independent Auditor's Reports Related to Going Concern

...

Illustration 1 – An Auditor's Report of an Entity Other Than a Listed Entity Containing an Unmodified Opinion When No Material Uncertainty Exists

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised).]

¹¹⁹ ISA 505, *External Confirmations*, paragraph 6(a)

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 2 – An Auditor’s Report of a Listed Entity Containing an Unmodified Opinion When No Material Uncertainty Exists and Disclosure in the Financial Statements About the Significant Judgments Made by Management in Concluding That There is No Material Uncertainty Is Adequate

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 3 – An Auditor’s Report of an Entity Other Than a Listed Entity Containing an Unmodified Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Exists and Disclosure in the Financial Statements Is Adequate

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 4 – An Auditor’s Report of a Listed Entity Containing an Unmodified Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Exists and Disclosure in the Financial Statements Is Adequate

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 5 – An Auditor’s Report of a Listed Entity Containing a Qualified Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Exists and the Financial Statements Are Materially Misstated Due to Inadequate Disclosure

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 6 – An Auditor’s Report of an Entity Other Than a Listed Entity Containing an Adverse Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Exists and Is Not Disclosed in the Financial Statements

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

ISA 580, WRITTEN REPRESENTATIONS

Introduction

...

Written Representations as Audit Evidence

3. Audit evidence is ~~the~~ information after applying audit procedures, that the auditor uses ~~used by the auditor in arriving at the~~ draw conclusions ~~that form the basis for on which~~ the auditor's opinion and report is based.¹²⁰ Written representations are necessary information that the auditor requires in connection with the audit of the entity's financial statements. Accordingly, similar to responses to inquiries, written representations are audit evidence. (Ref: Para. A1)

ISA 600 (REVISED), SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS—AUDITS OF GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (INCLUDING THE WORK OF COMPONENT AUDITORS)

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. The International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) apply to an audit of group financial statements (a group audit). This ISA deals with special considerations that apply to a group audit, including in those circumstances when component auditors are involved. The requirements and guidance in this ISA refer to, or expand on, the application of other relevant ISAs to a group audit, in particular ISA 220

¹²⁰ [Proposed](#) ISA 500 [\(Revised\)](#), *Audit Evidence*, paragraph [5\(e\)7\(b\)](#)

(Revised),¹²¹ ISA 230,¹²² ISA 300,¹²³ ISA 315 (Revised 2019),¹²⁴ and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).¹²⁵
(Ref: Para. A1–A2)

...

Involvement of Component Auditors

6. ISA 220 (Revised)¹²⁶ requires the engagement partner to determine that sufficient and appropriate human, technological and intellectual resources to perform the engagement are assigned or made available to the engagement team in a timely manner. In a group audit, such resources may include component auditors. Therefore, this ISA requires the group auditor to determine the nature, timing and extent of involvement of component auditors.

...

Responding to the Assessed Risks of Material Misstatement

37. In applying Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),¹²⁷ the group auditor shall take responsibility for the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures to be performed, including determining the components at which to perform further audit procedures and the nature, timing and extent of the work to be performed at those components. (Ref: Para. A124–A139)

...

Evaluating the Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Audit Evidence Obtained

51. In applying Proposed ISA 330 (Revised),¹²⁸ the group auditor shall evaluate whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained from the audit procedures performed, including from the work performed by component auditors, on which to base the group audit opinion. (Ref: Para. A151–A155)

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

- A41. If the group has a non-controlling interest in an entity that is accounted for by the equity method and the group auditor's access to information or people at the entity is restricted, the group auditor may be able to obtain information to be used as audit evidence regarding the entity's financial information, for example:

¹²¹ ISA 220 (Revised), *Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements*

¹²² ISA 230, *Audit Documentation*

¹²³ ISA 300, *Planning an Audit of Financial Statements*

¹²⁴ ISA 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*

¹²⁵ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

¹²⁶ ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 25

¹²⁷ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraphs 6–7

¹²⁸ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 2625A

- Financial information that is available from group management, as group management also needs to obtain the non-controlled entity's financial information in order to prepare the group financial statements.
- Publicly available information, such as audited financial statements, public disclosure documents, or quoted prices of equity instruments in the non-controlled entity.

It is a matter of professional judgment, particularly in view of the assessed risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements and considering other sources of information that may corroborate or otherwise contribute to audit evidence obtained, whether the auditor can obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.¹²⁹

...

Automated-Technological tools-and-techniques

A68. When determining whether the engagement team has the appropriate competence and capabilities, the group engagement partner may take into consideration such matters as the expertise of the component auditor in the use of automated-technological tools-and-techniques. For example, as described in ISA 220 (Revised), when the group auditor requires component auditors to use specific automated-technological tools-and-techniques when performing audit procedures, the group auditor may communicate with component auditors that the use of such automated-technological tools-and-techniques need to comply with the group auditor's instructions.

...

A81. The form of the communications between the group auditor and component auditors may vary based on factors such as the nature of the audit work the component auditors have been requested to perform, and the extent to which communication capabilities are integrated into the audit technological tools used for the group audit.

...

Large Number of Components Whose Financial Information Is Individually Immaterial but Material in the Aggregate to the Group Financial Statements

...

A129. In some cases, it may be possible to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence by performing further audit procedures centrally on these significant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures (e.g., if they are homogeneous, subject to common controls and access to appropriate information can be obtained). The further audit procedures may also include substantive analytical procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 520 (Revised).¹³⁰ Depending on the circumstances of the engagement, the financial information of the components may be aggregated at appropriate levels for purposes of developing expectations and determining the amount of any difference of recorded amounts from expected values in performing the substantive analytical procedures. The use of automated-technological tools-and-techniques may be helpful in these circumstances.

...

¹²⁹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 7(b)

¹³⁰ Proposed ISA 520 (Revised), *Analytical Procedures*

Operating Effectiveness of Controls

A137. The group auditor may ~~rely on test~~ the operating effectiveness of controls that operate throughout the group in determining the nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures to be performed at either the group level or at the components. Proposed ISA 330 (Revised)¹³¹ requires the auditor to design and perform tests of controls to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to the operating effectiveness of those controls. Component auditors may be involved in designing and performing such tests of controls.

A138. If the auditor identifies deviations from the expected operations of controls ~~upon which the auditor intends to rely are detected~~, Proposed ISA 330 (Revised)¹³² requires the auditor to make specific inquiries to understand these matters and their potential consequences. If more deviations than expected are detected as a result of testing the operating effectiveness of the controls, the group auditor may need to revise the group audit plan. Possible revisions to the group audit plan may include:

- Requesting additional substantive procedures to be performed at certain components.
- Identifying and testing the operating effectiveness of other relevant controls that are designed and implemented effectively.
- Increasing the number of components selected for further audit procedures.

...

Evaluating the Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Audit Evidence Obtained

Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 51)

...

A152. The evaluation required by paragraph 51 assists the group auditor in determining whether the overall group audit strategy and group audit plan developed to respond to the assessed risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements continues to be appropriate. ~~The requirement in ISA 330¹³³ for the auditor, irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, to design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance, and disclosure also may be helpful for purposes of this evaluation in the context of the group financial statements.~~

A153. The group auditor may consider the engagement team's exercise of professional skepticism when evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence obtained. For example, the group auditor may consider whether matters such as those described in paragraph A17 have inappropriately led the engagement team to:

- Obtain audit evidence that is easier to access without ~~giving appropriately consideration to~~ evaluating its relevance and reliability;
- Obtain less persuasive evidence than is necessary in the circumstances; or

¹³¹ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 8

¹³² Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), paragraph 17

¹³³ ~~ISA 330, paragraph 18~~

- Design and perform audit procedures in a manner that is biased towards obtaining evidence that is corroborative or excluding evidence that is contradictory.

...

A178. Policies or procedures established by the firm in accordance with the firm's system of quality management, or resources provided by the firm or a network, may assist the group auditor in documenting the direction and supervision of component auditors and the review of their work. For example, ~~an electronic audit~~ technological tool may be used to facilitate communications between the group auditor and component auditors. The ~~electronic audit~~ technological tool also may be used for audit documentation, including providing information about the reviewer(s) and the date(s) and extent of their review.

...

Appendix 1

(Ref: Para. A45)

Illustration of Independent Auditor's Report When the Group Auditor Is Not Able to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence on Which to Base the Group Audit Opinion

...

Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as "Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon"]

[Reporting in accordance with the reporting requirements in ISA 720 (Revised) – see Illustration 6 in Appendix 2 of ISA 720 (Revised). The last paragraph of the Other Information section in Illustration 6 would be customized to describe the specific matter giving rise to the qualified opinion that also affects the other information.]

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised). The last two paragraphs which are applicable for audits of listed entities only would not be included.]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

ISA 610 (REVISED 2013), USING THE WORK OF INTERNAL AUDITORS

...

10. There may be individuals in an entity that perform procedures similar to those performed by an internal audit function. However, unless performed by an objective and competent function that applies a systematic and disciplined approach, including quality control, such procedures would be considered internal controls and obtaining audit evidence regarding the effectiveness of such controls would be part of the auditor's responses to assessed risks in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised).¹³⁴

...

34. The external auditor shall direct, supervise and review the work performed by internal auditors on the engagement in accordance with ISA 220 (Revised). In so doing:
- (a) The nature, timing and extent of direction, supervision, and review shall recognize that the internal auditors are not independent of the entity and be responsive to the outcome of the evaluation of the factors in paragraph 29 of this ISA; and
 - (b) The review procedures shall include the external auditor checking back to the underlying audit evidence~~information~~ for some of the work performed by the internal auditors.

The direction, supervision and review by the external auditor of the work performed by the internal auditors shall be sufficient in order for the external auditor to determine that the internal auditors have obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the conclusions based on that work. (Ref: Para. A40–A41)

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

- A3. In addition, those in the entity with operational and managerial duties and responsibilities outside of the internal audit function would ordinarily face threats to their objectivity that would preclude them from being treated as part of an internal audit function for the purpose of this ISA, although they may perform controls that can be tested in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised). For this reason, monitoring controls performed by an owner-manager would not be considered equivalent to an internal audit function.

ISA 620, USING THE WORK OF AN AUDITOR'S EXPERT

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

...

2. This ISA does not deal with:

¹³⁴ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

- (a) Situations where the engagement team includes a member, or consults an individual or organization, with expertise in a specialized area of accounting or auditing, which are dealt with in ISA 220 (Revised);¹³⁵ or
- (b) The auditor's use of the work of an individual or organization possessing expertise in a field other than accounting or auditing, whose work in that field is used by the entity to assist the entity in preparing the financial statements (a management's expert), which is dealt with in Proposed ISA 500 (Revised).¹³⁶

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

- A8. In other cases, however, the auditor may determine that it is necessary, or may choose, to use an auditor's expert to assist in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Considerations when deciding whether to use an auditor's expert may include:
- Whether management has used a management's expert in preparing the financial statements (see paragraph A9).
 - The nature and significance of the matter, including its complexity.
 - The risks of material misstatement in the matter.
 - The expected nature of procedures to respond to identified risks, including: the auditor's knowledge of and experience with the work of experts in relation to such matters; and the availability of alternative sources of information intended to be used as audit evidence.
- A9. When management has used a management's expert in preparing the financial statements, the auditor's decision on whether to use an auditor's expert may also be influenced by such factors as:
- The nature, scope and objectives of the management's expert's work.
 - Whether the management's expert is employed by the entity, or is a party engaged by it to provide relevant services.
 - The extent to which management can exercise control or influence over the work of the management's expert.
 - The management's expert's competence and capabilities.
 - Whether the management's expert is subject to technical performance standards or other professional or industry requirements
 - Any controls within the entity over the management's expert's work.

Proposed ISA 500 (Revised)¹³⁷ includes requirements and guidance regarding the effect-evaluation of the competence, capabilities and objectivity of a management's experts on-as part of the auditor's evaluation of the relevance and reliability of information intended to be used as audit evidence.

¹³⁵ ISA 220 (Revised), *Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements*, paragraph A19

¹³⁶ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*, paragraphs A45–A59A66–A78A

¹³⁷ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), paragraph 811

...

ISA 700 (REVISED), FORMING AN OPINION AND REPORTING ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

...

Forming an Opinion on the Financial Statements

10.–12. [Refer to Agenda Item 7–E].

...

Form of Opinion

16.–17. [Refer to Agenda Item 7–E].

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Concluding on the Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 11)

~~A0.~~– ~~A0B.~~ [Refer to Agenda Item 7–E].

...

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity's Accounting Practices (Ref: Para. 12)

A1. [Refer to Agenda Item 7–E].

...

Auditor's Report (Ref: Para. 20)

A18.–A19. [Refer to Agenda Item 7–E].

...

Responsibilities for the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 33–34)

...

A49. ~~The~~ Appendix 2 to this ISA provides illustrations of how the requirement in paragraph 34(b) would be applied when IFRSs is the applicable financial reporting framework. If an applicable financial reporting framework other than IFRSs is used, the illustrative statements featured in ~~the~~ Appendix 2 to this ISA may need to be adapted to reflect the application of the other financial reporting framework in the circumstances.

...

A51. The description of the auditor's responsibilities as required by paragraphs 37–40 of this ISA may be tailored to reflect the specific nature of the entity, for example, when the auditor's report addresses consolidated financial statements. Illustration 2 in ~~the~~ Appendix 2 to this ISA includes an example of how this may be done.

...

A53. ~~The~~ Appendix 2 to this ISA provides illustrations of how the requirement in paragraph 38(c), to provide a description of materiality, would be applied when IFRSs is the applicable financial reporting framework. If an applicable financial reporting framework other than IFRSs is used, the illustrative statements presented in ~~the~~ Appendix 2 to this ISA may need to be adapted to reflect the application of the other financial reporting framework in the circumstances.

...

Appendix 1

(Ref: Para. A0B)

[Refer to Agenda Item 7–E]

Appendix 2

(Ref: Para. A19)

Illustrations of Independent Auditor's Reports on Financial Statements

...

ISA 701, COMMUNICATING KEY AUDIT MATTERS IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

Matters that Required Significant Auditor Attention (Ref: Para. 9)

A12. The concept of significant auditor attention recognizes that an audit is risk-based and focuses on identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor's opinion. For a particular account balance, class of transactions or disclosure, the higher an assessed risk of material misstatement at the assertion level, the more judgment is often involved in planning and performing the audit procedures and evaluating the results thereof. In designing further audit procedures, the auditor is required to plan to obtain more persuasive audit evidence the higher the auditor's assessment of inherent risk on the spectrum of inherent risk.¹³⁸ The higher on the spectrum of inherent risk a risk is assessed, When obtaining the more persuasive the audit evidence is required to be. This may include because of a higher assessment of risk, the auditor may increase increasing the quantity of the evidence obtained, or obtaining evidence that is of higher quality more relevant or reliable, for

¹³⁸ Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*, paragraph 7(~~bc~~)

~~example, by placing more emphasis on obtaining third party evidence or by obtaining corroborating evidence from a number of independent sources.~~¹³⁹

...

Considerations in Determining Those Matters that Required Significant Auditor Attention (Ref: Para. 9)

A16. The auditor may develop a preliminary view at the planning stage about matters that are likely to be areas of significant auditor attention in the audit and therefore may be key audit matters. The auditor may communicate this with those charged with governance when discussing the planned scope and timing of the audit in accordance with ISA 260 (Revised). However, the auditor's determination of key audit matters is based on the results of the audit procedures performed and ~~or~~ audit evidence obtained throughout the audit.

...

ISA 705 (REVISED), MODIFICATIONS TO THE OPINION IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Introduction

...

Appendix

(Ref: Para. A17–A18, A25)

Illustrations of Independent Auditor's Reports with Modifications to the Opinion

...

Illustration 1 – Qualified Opinion due to a Material Misstatement of the Financial Statements

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

¹³⁹ [Proposed](#) ISA 330 [\(Revised\)](#), paragraph A19 – [A19Ab](#)

Illustration 2 – Adverse Opinion due to a Material Misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 3 – Qualified Opinion due to the Auditor's Inability to Obtain Sufficient Audit Evidence Regarding a Foreign Associate

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 4 – Disclaimer of Opinion due to the Auditor's Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence about a Single Element of the Consolidated Financial Statements

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

...

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 5 – Disclaimer of Opinion due to the Auditor's Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence about Multiple Elements of the Financial Statements

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

...

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

ISA 706 (REVISED), EMPHASIS OF MATTER PARAGRAPHS AND OTHER MATTER PARAGRAPHS IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

...

Appendix 3

(Ref: Para. A17)

Illustration of an Independent Auditor's Report that Includes a Key Audit Matters Section, an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph, and an Other Matter Paragraph

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Appendix 4

(Ref: Para. A8)

Illustration of an Independent Auditor's Report that Includes a Key Audit Matters Section, an Emphasis of Matter Paragraph, and an Other Matter Paragraph

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

ISA 710, COMPARATIVE INFORMATION—CORRESPONDING FIGURES AND COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

...

Appendix

(Ref: Para. A5, A7, A10)

Illustrations of Independent Auditors' Reports

Illustration 1 – Corresponding Figures

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 2 – Corresponding Figures

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 3 – Corresponding Figures

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 4 – Comparative Financial Statements

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

ISA 720 (REVISED), THE AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES RELATING TO OTHER INFORMATION

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Definitions

Annual Report (Ref: Para. 12(a))

...

- A4. An annual report may be made available to users in printed ~~form,~~ or electronically digital form, including on the entity's website. A document (or combination of documents) may meet the definition of an annual report, irrespective of the manner in which it is made available to users.

...

Obtaining the Other Information (Ref: Para. 13)

...

- A19. When other information is only made available to users via the entity's website, the version of the other information obtained from the entity, rather than directly from the entity's website, is the relevant document on which the auditor would perform procedures in accordance with this ISA. The auditor has no responsibility under this ISA to search for other information, including other information that may be on the entity's website, nor to perform any procedures to confirm that other information is appropriately displayed on the entity's website or otherwise has been appropriately transmitted or displayed electronically in digital form.

...

Appendix 2

(Ref: Para. 21-22, A53)

Illustrations of Independent Auditors' Reports Relating to Other Information

...

Illustration 1 – An auditor's report of any entity, whether listed or other than listed, containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information.

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in Appendix 2 of ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 2 – An auditor’s report of a listed entity containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report, has not identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 3 – An auditor’s report of an entity other than a listed entity containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report, has not identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 4 – An auditor’s report of a listed entity containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained no other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report but expects to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 5 – An auditor's report of any entity, whether listed or other than listed, containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and has concluded that a material misstatement of the other information exists.

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 6 – An auditor's report of any entity, whether listed or other than listed, containing a qualified opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and there is a limitation of scope with respect to a material item in the consolidated financial statements which also affects the other information.

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of](#) ISA 700 (Revised).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of ISA 700 \(Revised\)](#).]

[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

Illustration 7 – An auditor's report of any entity, whether listed or other than listed, containing an adverse opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and the adverse opinion on the consolidated financial statements also affects the other information.

...

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of ISA 700 \(Revised\)](#).]

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in [Appendix 2 of ISA 700 \(Revised\)](#).]

[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is [name].]

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction]

[Auditor Address]

[Date]

...

ISA 805 (REVISED), SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS—AUDITS OF SINGLE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SPECIFIC ELEMENTS, ACCOUNTS OR ITEMS OF A FINANCIAL STATEMENT

...

Application and Other Explanatory Material

...

- A6. Compliance with the requirements of ISAs relevant to the audit of a single financial statement or of a specific element of a financial statement may not be practicable when the auditor is not also engaged to audit the entity's complete set of financial statements. In such cases, the auditor often does not have the same understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal control, as an auditor who also audits the entity's complete set of financial statements. The auditor also does not have the audit evidence about the general quality of the accounting records or other accounting information that would be ~~acquired-obtained~~ in an audit of the entity's complete set of financial statements. Accordingly, the auditor may need ~~further-to obtain audit~~ evidence to ~~supplement the~~

~~information obtained corroborate audit evidence acquired~~ from the accounting records. In the case of an audit of a specific element of a financial statement, certain ISAs require audit work that may be disproportionate to the element being audited. For example, although the requirements of ISA 570 (Revised 2024) are likely to be relevant in the circumstances of an audit of a schedule of accounts receivable, complying with those requirements may not be practicable because of the audit effort required. If the auditor concludes that an audit of a single financial statement or of a specific element of a financial statement in accordance with ISAs may not be practicable, the auditor may discuss with management whether another type of engagement might be more practicable.

INTERNATIONAL AUDITING PRACTICE NOTE 1000, SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS IN AUDITING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Introduction

...

2. The following International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) are particularly relevant to audits of financial instruments:
 - (a) ISA 540¹⁴⁰ deals with the auditor's responsibilities relating to auditing accounting estimates, including accounting estimates related to financial instruments measured at fair value;
 - (b) ISA 315 (Revised 2019)¹⁴¹ and Proposed ISA 330 (Revised)¹⁴² deal with identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement and responding to those risks; and
 - (c) Proposed ISA 500 (Revised)¹⁴³ explains what constitutes audit evidence and deals with the auditor's responsibility to design and perform audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence to be able to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the auditor's opinion, including procedures to evaluate the relevance and reliability of information intended to be used as audit evidence.

...

Planning Considerations

...

Using Those with Specialized Skills and Knowledge in the Audit

...

79. Accordingly, auditing financial instruments may require the involvement of one or more experts or specialists, for example, in the areas of:
 - ...

¹⁴⁰ ISA 540, *Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures*

¹⁴¹ ISA 315 (Revised 2019), *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*

¹⁴² Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), *The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks*

¹⁴³ Proposed ISA 500 (Revised), *Audit Evidence*

- Evaluating information technology controls, especially in entities with a high volume of financial instruments. In such entities information technology may be highly complex, for example when significant information about those financial instruments is transmitted, processed, maintained or accessed ~~electronically~~in digital form. In addition, it may include relevant services provided by a service organization.

...

Assessing and Responding to the Risks of Material Misstatement

...

Assessing the Risk of Material Misstatement

89. The auditor's assessment of the identified risks at the assertion level in accordance with ISA 315 (Revised 2019) includes evaluating the design and implementation of internal control. It provides a basis for considering the appropriate audit approach for designing and performing further audit procedures in accordance with Proposed ISA 330 (Revised), including both substantive procedures and tests of controls. The approach taken is influenced by the auditor's understanding of internal control relevant to the audit, including the strength of the control environment and any risk management function, the size and complexity of the entity's operations and whether the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement include an expectation that controls are operating effectively.

...

Factors to Consider in Determining Whether, and to What Extent, to Test the Operating Effectiveness of Controls

91. An expectation that controls are operating effectively may be more common when dealing with a financial institution with well-established controls, and therefore controls testing may be an effective means of obtaining audit evidence. When an entity has a trading function, substantive tests alone may not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence due to the volume of contracts and the different systems used. ~~Tests of controls, however, will not be sufficient on their own as the auditor is required by ISA 330 to design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure.~~¹⁴⁴

...

95. In reaching a decision on the nature, timing and extent of testing of controls, the auditor may consider factors such as:
- The nature, frequency and volume of financial instrument transactions;
 - ...
 - The issues the controls are intended to address, for example, controls related to the exercise of judgments compared with controls over supporting data. Substantive tests are more likely to be effective than ~~relying on~~testing the operating effectiveness of controls related to the exercise of judgment;
 - ...

¹⁴⁴—ISA 330, paragraph 18

...

Substantive Procedures

96. Designing substantive procedures includes consideration of:

- The use of analytical procedures¹⁴⁵—While analytical procedures undertaken by the auditor can be effective as risk assessment procedures to provide the auditor with information about an entity's business, they may be less effective as substantive procedures when performed alone. This is because the complex interplay of the drivers of the valuation often mask any unusual trends that might arise.
- Non-routine transactions—Many financial transactions are negotiated contracts between an entity and its counterparty (often known as “over the counter” or OTC.) To the extent that financial instrument transactions are not routine and outside an entity's normal activities, a substantive audit approach may be the most effective means of achieving the planned audit objectives. In instances where financial instrument transactions are not undertaken routinely, the auditor's responses to assessed risk, including designing and performing audit procedures, have regard to the entity's possible lack of experience in this area.
- Availability of evidence—For example, when the entity uses a third-party pricing source, evidence concerning the relevant financial statement assertions may not be available from the entity.
- Procedures performed in other audit areas—Procedures performed in other financial statement areas may provide evidence about the completeness of financial instrument transactions. These procedures may include tests of subsequent cash receipts and payments, and the search for unrecorded liabilities.
- Selection of items for testing—In some cases, the financial instrument portfolio will comprise instruments with varying complexity and risk. In such cases, judgmental sampling may be useful.

...

~~Dual Purpose Tests~~An Audit Procedure Used for More than One Purpose

98. Although the purpose of a test of controls is different from the purpose of a test of details, it may be efficient to perform both at the same time by, for example:

- Performing a test of controls and a test of details on the same transaction (for example, testing whether a signed contract has been maintained and whether the details of the financial instrument have been appropriately captured in a summary sheet; or
- Testing controls when testing management's process of making valuation estimates.

¹⁴⁵ ISA 315 (Revised 2019), paragraph 14(b), requires the auditor to apply analytical procedures as risk assessment procedures to assist in assessing the risks of material misstatement in order to provide a basis for designing and implementing responses to the assessed risks. Proposed ISA 520 (Revised), Analytical Procedures, paragraph 6, requires the auditor to use analytical procedures in forming an overall conclusion on the financial statements. Analytical procedures may also be applied at other stages of the audit.

*Timing of the Auditor's Procedures*¹⁴⁶

...

Procedures Relating to Completeness, Accuracy, Existence, Occurrence and Rights and Obligations

...

104. Procedures that may provide audit evidence to support the completeness, accuracy, and existence assertions include:

- External confirmation¹⁴⁷ of bank accounts, trades, and custodian statements. This can be done by direct confirmation with the counterparty (including the use of bank confirmations), where a reply is sent to the auditor directly. Alternatively this information may be obtained from the counterparty's systems through a data feed. Where this is done, controls to prevent tampering with the computer systems through which the information is transmitted may be considered by the auditor in evaluating the reliability of the evidence from the confirmation. If confirmations are not received, the auditor may be able to obtain evidence by reviewing contracts and testing relevant controls. External confirmations, however, often do not provide adequate audit evidence with respect to the valuation assertion though they may assist in identifying any side agreements.

Significant Risks

...

111. For accounting estimates that give rise to significant risks, in addition to other substantive procedures performed to meet the requirements of [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#), ISA 540 requires the auditor to evaluate the following:

- (a) How management has considered alternative assumptions or outcomes, and why it has rejected them, or how management has otherwise addressed measurement uncertainty in making the accounting estimate;
- (b) Whether the significant assumptions used by management are reasonable; and
- (c) Where relevant to the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management, or the appropriate application of the applicable financial reporting framework, management's intent to carry out specific courses of action and its ability to do so.

...

Developing an Audit Approach

114. In testing how management values the financial instrument and in responding to the assessed risks of material misstatement in accordance with ISA 540, the auditor undertakes one or more of the following procedures, taking account of the nature of the accounting estimates:

¹⁴⁶ Paragraphs 11–12 and 22–23 of [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#) establish requirements when the auditor performs procedures at an interim period and explains how such audit evidence can be used.

¹⁴⁷ ISA 505, External Confirmations, deals with the auditor's use of external confirmation procedures to obtain audit evidence in accordance with the requirements of [Proposed ISA 330 \(Revised\)](#) and [Proposed ISA 500 \(Revised\)](#), Audit Evidence. See also the Staff Audit Practice Alert, Emerging Practice Issues Regarding the Use of External Confirmations in an Audit of Financial Statements, issued in November 2009.

- (a) Test how management made the accounting estimate and the data on which it is based (including valuation techniques used by the entity in its valuations).
- (b) ~~Test—Obtain audit evidence about~~ the operating effectiveness of the controls over how management made the accounting estimate, together with appropriate substantive procedures.
- (c) Develop a point estimate or a range to evaluate management's point estimate.
- (d) Determine whether events occurring up to the date of the auditor's report provide audit evidence regarding the accounting estimate.

Many auditors find that a combination of testing how management valued the financial instrument, and the data on which it is based, and ~~testing—obtaining audit evidence about~~ the operating effectiveness of controls, will be an effective and efficient audit approach. While subsequent events may provide some evidence about the valuation of financial instruments, other factors may need to be taken into account to address any changes in market conditions subsequent to the balance sheet date. If the auditor is unable to test how management made the estimate, the auditor may choose to develop a point estimate or range.

...

Audit Considerations When a Management's Expert Is Used by the Entity

...

134. Paragraph ~~8-11~~ of ~~Proposed~~ ISA 500 (~~Revised~~) contains requirements for the auditor when evaluating evidence from an expert engaged by management. The extent of the auditor's procedures in relation to a management's expert and that expert's work depend on the significance of the expert's work for the auditor's purposes. Evaluating the appropriateness of management's expert's work assists the auditor in assessing whether the prices or valuations supplied by a management's expert provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the valuations. Examples of procedures the auditor may perform include:
- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of management's expert for example: their relationship with the entity; their reputation and standing in the market; their experience with the particular types of instruments; and their understanding of the relevant financial reporting framework applicable to the valuations;
 - ~~Obtaining an understanding of the work of the management's expert, for example by assessing the appropriateness of the valuation technique(s) used and the key market variables and assumptions used in the valuation technique(s);~~
 - Obtaining an understanding of how the information prepared by that expert has been used by management in the preparation of the financial statements, for example, by considering the appropriateness of the information prepared by that expert, and understanding the modifications made by management to the information prepared by that expert, and the reasons for such modifications
 - Evaluating the appropriateness of that expert's work as audit evidence. At this point, the focus is on the appropriateness of the expert's work at the level of the individual financial instrument. For a sample of the relevant instruments, it may be appropriate to develop an estimate independently (see paragraphs 136 to 137 on developing a point estimate or range), using

different data and assumptions, then compare that estimate to that of the management's expert; and

- Other procedures may include:
 - Modeling different assumptions to derive assumptions in another model, then considering the reasonableness of those derived assumptions.
 - Comparing management's point estimates with the auditor's point estimates to determine if management's estimates are consistently higher or lower.

...

Appendix

(Ref: Para. A14)

Examples of Controls Relating to Financial Instruments

...

Use of Service Organizations

10. Entities may also use service organizations (for example asset managers) to initiate the purchase or sale of financial instruments, to maintain records of transactions for the entity or to value financial instruments. Some entities may be dependent on these service organizations to provide the basis of reporting for the financial instruments held. However, if management does not have an understanding about the controls in place at a service organization, the auditor may not be able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence ~~to rely on~~ about the operating effectiveness of controls at that service organization. See ISA 402, which establishes requirements for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence when an entity uses the services of one or more service organizations.